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Sm, 
Attorney-General's Uffice, Hobart, I3tli February, 1892. 

I HA VE the horror to forward to you herewith a Commission appointing· yourself, David 
Barclay, Esq_., C. M. Tenison, Esq., and A. Thomson, Esq., to be Commissioners for ~he pur­
poses therein named; also appointing you to be President, and Mr. Thomas Cook Just to be the 
Secretary to the Commission. 

I have the honor to be, 
Sir, 

Your obedient Servant, 
B. STAFFORD BIRD, 

C. J. BARCLAY, Esq., Managing .Director 
Commercial Bank, Hobart. 

for Attorney-General, absent. 

(L.S.) VrcTORIBA, ?Y _the Gdriacel oflGQoD of Dth~.r, U:dn?'.tedifK:hin_q!/;,o":1', of G1·eat 
ritain an re anc ueen, </Jen Pr o t. e I' ait,i. 

To Our Trusty and Well-beloved CHARLES JAMES BARCLAY, Esquire, DAVID BARCLAY, Esquire, 
CHARLES M'CARTHY TENISoN, Esquire, and ALEXANDER THOMSON. 

GREETING: 

WHEREAS We have thought it expedient to inquire into and investigate the Affairs and Books ofthe 
Bank of Van Diemen's Land, Limited: Know ye that We, reposing great trust and confidence in your 
fidelity, discretion, and integrity, have authorised and appointed, and by these presents do authorise and 
appoint you, the said CHARLES JAMES BARCLAY, DAVID BARCLAY, CHARLES M'CARTHY TENISON,and 
ALEXANDER THOMSON, or any three of you, to make such diligent inquiry into the Affairs of the Bank of 
Van Diemen's Land, Limited, now being wound up under the provisions of the Act of the Parliament of 
Tasmania 55 Victoria, No. 17, and to carefully investigate all such Books, ·Documents, and Papers of or 
belonging to the said Bank as may be necessary to ascertain whether the Reports, Balance-sheets, and 
Profit and Loss Accounts issued by the Directors of the said Bank to the Shareholders in the month of 
July, One thousand eight hundred· and ninety, and in the months of January and July, One thousand eight 
hundred and ninety-one, correctly represented the true financial condition of the said Bank of Van Diemen's 
Land, Limited, on the dates to which such Reports, Bal:mce-sheets, and Profit and Loss Accounts refer 
respectively : And for the better discovery of the truth in the premises, We do by these presents give and 
grant unto you, or any three or yµore of you, full power and authority to call before you all such persons as 
you shall judge necessary by whom you may obtain information in the premises : And Our further will and. 
pleasure is that you, or any three or more of you, shall reduce into writing under your hands what you 
shall discover in the premises, and do and shall, on or before the Fifteenth day of March next, certify unto 
Us in Our Executive Council, in Tasmania, in writing under yom hands, respecting your. several proceed­
ings by force of these presents, together with what you shall find touching or concerning the premises upon 
such inquiry as aforesaid: And We further will and command, and by these presents ordain, that this Our 
Commission shall continue in full force and vir-tue, and that you our said Commissioners, or any three or 
more of you, shall and may from time to time proceed in the execution hereof; and of every matter or thing 
herein contained, although the same be not continued from time to time by adjournment : And we do hereby 
command all and singular Our loving subjects whomsoever within Our said Colony of Tasmab.ia that they 
be assistant to you and each of you in the execution of these presents : And we appoint that you . the 
said CHARLES JAMES BARCLAY shall be President of Our Commissioners: And we further direct and 
appoint that THOMAS CooK JUST, Esquire, shall be Secretary to Out said Commissioners, and we com­
mand that he be assistant in the execution of these presents. 

In testimony whereof we have caused these Our Letters to be made Patent and the Seal of Our 
Colony of Tasmania and its Dependencies to be hereunto affixed. 

Witness Our trusty and Well-beloved Srn RoBER'l' GEORGE CROOKSHANK HAMILTON, 
Knight Comma;1der of the Most Honorable Order of the Bath, Governor and Com­
mander-in-Chief in and over Our said Colony of Tasmania and its Dependencies, at 
Hobart, in the said Colony, the twelfth day of February, one thousand eight hundred and 
ninety-two, and in the fifty-fifth year of Our Reign. 

R. 'G. C. HAMILTON. 
By His Excellency's Command, 

B. STAFFORD BIRD, /01· the Attorney-General, absent. 
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REP OR ·T. 

To His Excellency Sm RoBERT GEORGE CROOKSHANK HAMILTON, 

I(night Commander of the JJ1ost Honorable Order of the Bath, 
Governor a,nd Commander-in- Chief in and over the Colony of Tas­
mania and its Dependencies. 

MAY IT PLEASE YouR ExcELLENCY. 

1. ,v E, the Commissioners appointed by the Royal Commission under date the 12th day of 
February, 1892, ''to make such diligent enquiry into the affairs of the Bank of Van Diernen's Land, 
Limited, now being wound up under the provisions of the Act of Parliament of. Tasmania, 
55 Viet. No. 17, and to carefully investigate all such books, documents, and papers of or belonging 
to the said Bank as may be necessary to ascertain whether the Reports, Balance-sheets, and Profit 
and Loss Accounts issued by the Direetors of the said Bank to the Shareholders in the month of 
July, 1890, and in the months of January and July, 1891, correctly represented the true financial 
condition of the said Bank of Van Diemen's Land, Limited, on the dates to which such Reports, 
Balance-sheets, and Profit and Loss Accounts refer respectively," have the honor to submit to Your 
Excellency the follo)Viug Report. · 

2. In commencing their duties the Commigsioners were met by impediments, arising through 
an action pending in the Supreme Court of Tasmania, which led to an application. to His Honor 
the Chief Justice for an !!!junction to restrain them from proceeding with the enquiry. Subse­
quently the action was withdrawn, and, the Commissioners proceeded with their duties. 

3. Your Commissioners have to i·eport that, under instructions from the Honorable the Attorney­
General, they confined their enquiry to an investigation of the items "Coin and Bullion, £70,431 
12s. lld.," and" Balances due by other Banks, £124,417 0s. lOd.," in the Balance-sheet of 30th 
June, 1891, and to the two final paragraphs of the Trustees' Report to the Shareholders, dated 27th 
January, 1892. . - _ 

4. The Commissioners have held six meetings, and havP. examined the late Manager and the·. 
late Accountant of the Bank of Van Diemen's Land thereon. 

5. The first item appearing in the Balance-sheet is "Coin and Bullion, £70,431 12s. l ld.," 
regarding which we examined Mr. ,Villiam George Browne, the late Manager, and Mr. Alfred 
Thomas Bell, the late Accountant of the Bank, and elicited the fact that on the date of the Balance­
sheet (viz., 30th June, 1891) there was riot in the Bank's possession in Coin and Bullion the sum 
represented by th~se figures. We ascertained that the Manager of the Bank had included in this 
amount a sum of £5000 for which. he had sold his draft on Melbourne to the Union Bank on the 
following day (1st July); but while so including it, and adding it to his Coin, he did not deduct it 
from his " Balances due by other Banks," which should have been done had the draft been sold on 
the 30th June. The effect of the entries as made by the Bank was that the "Coin and Bullion" 
was augmented by £5000, but the "Balances due by other Banks" not diminished, thereby 
representing the Bank to have an asset of £5000 which it did not possess. 

6. Your Commissioners also find that a sum of £30,000 was included in the item "Balances 
due by other Banks." There was no such balance in existence. The Bank of Van Diemen's. 
Land had an authority from its London Agents (the London and Westminster Bank) to overdraw 
iti account to the extent of £:10,000; but the permission to incur a debt was converted by the 
Manager of the Bank of Van Diemen's Land, Limited, into an absolute asset, and was made so to 
appear in the Balance-sheet, thereby swelling the item "Balances due by othe)'. Banks" by £30,000. 
Moreover, .the permission to overdraw the account at the London and Westminster Bank by this 
£30,000 expired on the 30th June. 

7. We also find that the entries relating· to the aforesaid two sums of £5000 and £30,000 were 
balanced by additions of like amounts having· been made to the figures of the Deposits in the Bank. 

8. "\Vith reference to the sum of £35,000 borrowed from the Union Bank, as mentioned in 
the last paragraph of the Report of the Trustees, we are of opinion that the entries in connection 
therewith are irreg·ular,- lmt it appeared that Mr: Browne, in making them in the manner he did 
followed the practice of his predecessor in analogous cases. 
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9. Your ConnnissionerB find that the Balance-sheet of 30th June, 1891, did not represent the 

true financial condition of the said Bank on that day. 

10. The Reports, Balance-sheets, Minutes of lVIeetings, Report of Evidence, Correspondence 
and Documents exhibited to the Commissioners will be found attached hereto. 

\-Ve have the honor to be, 
Your Excellency's most obedient Servants, 

Hobart, 19th }'day, 1892. 

C. J. BARCLAY. 
DAVID BARCLAY. 
C. M. TENISON. 
ALEX. THOMSON. 
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M I N U T E S O F P RO C E .E D I N GS. 

SATURDAY, FEBRUARY 13, 1892. 
The Commissioners met at 8·30 P.M. 

Present.-C. J. Barclay, Esq. (President), Messrs. D. Barclay, C. MoC. Tenison, and A, Thomson, with the· 
Secretary. 

Resolved, "That the Secretary inform the Liquidators a3 to the purpose of the Commission, and request them 
to afford the Commissioners the following facilities :-

lst. The use of the Board-room in the Y.D.L. Bank premises on each week-day evening from 7·30 o'clo~k.-
2nd. Access to all Books and Vouchers of the Bank up to the date of the failure. 
3rd. The services of Messrs. A. T. Bell and Thomas Lyons (Officers of the Bank) during the sittings of the· 

Commission." 
Moved by Mr. Thomson, seconded by Mr. Tenison, That Mr. C. J. Maxwell be appointed Accountant to the 

Commissioners. (Carried.) · 
The Meeting adjourned until 7·30 r.111. on Monday, 15th instant. 

Confirmed, 

THos. C. JusT, Secretary. 

MONDAY, FEBRUARY 15, 1892. 
The Commissioners met at 7·30 r.M. 

Present.-All the Commissioners, the Accountant, and Secretary. 

C. J. BARCLAY, President. 
15-2-92. 

The President (Mr. C. J. Barclay) stated that the purpo~e of the Meeting was to commence the investigation of 
the Books and Vouchers, which the Liquidators would produce at the V.D. Land banking premides. 

The Commissioners then adjourned to the premises of the V.D. Land Bank, where they were received by l\fr. 
George Par:ker Fitzgerald, one of tlie Liquidators. . · 

The President informed Mr. Fitzgerald that they attended under the Royal Commission in pursuance of a notice 
given during the day, and of an arrangement arrived at between Mr. Fitzgerald and himself, to commence alll 
inspection of the Books and Vouchers, &c. of the Bank. 

Mr. Fitzgerald requested that the matter should be postponed until the following day, as his Co-Trustee (Mr. 
William Hart) was then absent from town. He had agreed with Mr. Barclay that the inspection might commence 
that evening, and the Books and Vouchers had been prepared, but he had within half an hour previously to the visit 
of the Commissioners been advised by l\ir. John Mitchell, as Solicitor for the Trustees, that he would be doing wrong 
in permitting the investigation to proceed without consulting his Co-Trustee. Messrs. Walker and Wolfhagen had 
also written him a letter protesting against any proceedings of the Commission whilst the case of Williams v. Pearce 
was before the Supreme Court. 

Discussion ensuei;J., the Members of the Commission pointing out to Mr. Fitzgerald their powers under the 
Commission, and under the Act 52 Viet. No. 26, a copy of which was presented by Mr. C. J. Barclay. 

At the request of Mr. Fitzgerald, Mr. Barclay produced the Royal Commission; having perused which, Mr. 
Fitzgerald apologised for any inconvenience to which the Commissioners had been put through his action, but said 
he was acting under legal advio11 obtained since the arrangement for inspection of the Books was made by him, and 
he could do nothing further until Mr. Hart returned. 

The President (Mr. C. J. Barclay) then made a formal demand to be allowed to see the Books and Vouchers 
of the Bank of Van Diemen's Land. 

Mr. Fitzgerald said he would take the risk of refusing to comply with the request, at least until the retur~ of 
his Co-Trustee, Mr. Hart. He would promise to accept no other advice until Mr. Hart's return, and then he would 
do his best to obtain for the Commissioners an inspection of the Books. ' · 

The Commissioners then retired, returning to the Commercial Bank, where the Meeting was reconstituted. 
The Minutes of the preceding Meeting were read and confirmed. 
The Secretary reported that, in accordance with Resolution of last Meeting, he had written the Liquidators. 

requesting them to accord certain facilities to enable the Commissioners to pursue their investigations. (Letter read.) 
A letter from Mr. Fitzgerald was read in reply, stating that he would consult his Co-Trustee (Mr. Hart) on his. 

return to town, and asking to be furnished with a copy of the Royal Commission, and asking under what authority 
it was issued. 

The President formally reported the interview with Mr. Fitzgerald detailed in these Minutes. 
Moved by Mr. D. Barclay,· seconded by Mr. Teniwn, That summonses be prepared under Section 1 of 52 Viet. 

No. 26, calling upon the Liquidators of the Bank of Van Diemen's Land; Limited, now being wound up under the· 
provisions of the Act of Parliament of Tasmania 55 Viet. No. 17, to attend before the Commissioners at the 
Commercial Bank, Macquarie-street, Hobart, on Tuesday, 16th February, at 7·30 P.M., and there to produce all 
Books and Vouchers of the said Bank of Van Diemen's Land sho"ing transactions from January, 1890, to the date 
of the failure, and to continue in attendance with such Books and Documents from day to day until discharged from 
such attendance by the Commissions. (Carried.) . 

. Moved by Mr. D. Barclay, seconded by Mr. Tenison, That Messrs. William George Browne, Alfred Thomas. 
Bell, and Thomas Lyons be summoned to attend as witnesses before the Commission .. (Carried.) 

The Meeting adjourned until the following evening at 7·30 P.M. 

Confirmed, 

'l'uos. C. JusT, Secretary. 
C. J. BARCLAY, Prerident. 
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WEDNESDAY, FEBRUARY 17, 1892. 

Present.-All the Commissioners, the Accountant, and Secretary. 
Hon. G. P. Fitzgerald and Messrs. Lyons and Bell were present as witnesses in obedience to summons. 
The President said it was the desire of the Commissioners to commence their investigation of the Books of the 

V.D.L. Bank. They had no desire to compel the Liquidators to bring them to that place, but would meet their 
·convenience if poasible. .M.r. Fitzgerald then invited the Commissioners to use the premises of the Y.D.L. Bank, and 
with his Officers retired to prepare the Books. 

The President reported receipt of a notice from Messrs. ,v alker & ,v olfhagen on behalf of John Pearce, 
-defendant in an action in the Supreme Court 1'Villiams v. Peai·ce, to the effect that application had been made to 
His Honor the Chief Justice to restrain the Commissioners from proceeding with their investigation, and that His 
Honor had acljoumed the hearing until the following clay in order that the Commissioners might appear and show. 
cause why such Order to restrain should not be granted. 

After discussion, Mr. Thomson moved, Mr. D. Barclay seconded, That, having regard to the notice of Messrs. 
Walker and Wolfhagen, the Commission adjourn until Thursday, 18th instant, at 7·30 o'clock. (Carried.) 

The Commission adjourned accordingly. 
Confirmed, 

C. J. BARCLAY, President. 
'fnos. C. JusT, Sec1·etary. 

MONDAY, MARCH 28, 1892. 

Present.-All the Commissioners and the Secretary: 
Discussion ensued as to the proceeding·s before the Chief Justice in Chambers on the case Williams v. Prarce. 
:i\Ir. Tenison moved, and Mr. D. Barclay seconded, That since it was declared in open Court in lYilliams v. 

Pearce by the Solicitor-General, representing the Government and the Commissioners, that the object of the 
Commission was to obtain evidence whereupon to institute criminal proceedings, the Commissioners arr, of opinion 
that an inquiry with such an avowed object is one that it would be deroga,tory to them to undertake. (Carried.) 

Resolved, 'l'hat the President be requested to communicate this Resolution to the Hon. Attorney-General. 
Resolved, That the Commission adjoum until again called together by the President on receipt of the I-Ion. 

Attorney-General's reply. 
Adjourned accordingly. 

Confirmed, 
C. J. BARCLAY, President. 

THos. C. ·JusT, Secretary. 

FRIDAY, APRIL s, 1892. 

The Commissioners met at 7·30 P.~r. 
Present.-All the Commissioners, the Accountant, and the Secretary, also Mr. A. Marsden, Shorthand ,Yriter. 

The Hon. G. P. Fitzgerald was also present during the proceedings. 
Mr. William George Browne, late Manager of the Bank of Y.D.L., was called and examin~d. See Evidence, 

page 19. 
Mr. Alfred Thomas Bell, Accountant of the Bank of V.D.L., was also examined. See Evidence, page 33. 
At the close of the examin1ttion l\fr. Browne applied for a Certificate under Section 5 of the Act. 
The President said it would be prepared anerwards. 
Commission adjourned at ll·lO P.~r. 

Confirmed, 
C. J. BARCLAY, President. 

Tu 011. C. J usT, Secretary. 

MONDAY, MAY 16, 1892. 
The Commissioners met at 7·30 I'.l\I. 

Present.-All the Commissioners and the Secretary. 
The Secretary brought up a draft of the Report to His Excellency on the enquiry, which, 

ments, was adopted, and ordered to be printed for signature by the Members. 
The Secretary was instructed to submit the Accounts connected with the Commission 

~ignatme, and the President was requested to report thereon to the Hon. A ttorney-Gencral. 
The Commission adjourned sine die. 

with a fow amend-

to the President for 

Confirmed, 

'I1rns. C. JusT, Seeretary. 
C. J. BARCLAY, President. 
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CORRESPONDENCE. 

GENTLEMEN, 
15th February, 1892. 

I HAVE the honor to inform'.you that a Royal Commission has ·been issued by His Excellency the· 
Governor to Messieurs Charles James BaTclay, David Barclay, Charles M'Carthy Tenison, and Alexander 
Thomson, to whom I am commanded ·to act as Secretary, directing the Commissioners "to make such 
diligent enquiry into the affairs of the Bank of Van Diemen's Land, Limited, and to carefully 
investigate all such books, documents, and papers of or belonging to the said Bank as may be necessary to 
ascertain whether the Reports, Balance-sheets, and Profit and Loss Accounts issued by the Directors of 
the said Bank to the shareholder's in the month of July, 1890, and in the months of January and July,. 
1891, correctly represented the true financial condition of the said Bank of Van Diemen's Land, Limited,. 
on the dates to which such Reports, Balance-sheets, and Profit and Loss Accounts refer respectively." 

The Commissioners desire to commence their duties without delay, and I am instructed·to request that 
you will be pleased.to accord them the following facilities :-

lst. The use of .the Board-room in your Banking premises on each week-day evening from 7·30 
o'clock. 

2nd. Access to all books and vouchers of the Bank up to the date of the failure. 
3rd. The services of your officers (Messrs. A. T. Bell and Thomas Lyons) during the sittings of 

the Commission. 

Requesting the favour of an early reply, 

I have; &c. 

The Li.quidators of the Banh of Van Diemen's 
Land, Li.mited, Hoba1·t. 

DEAR Sm, 

THOS. C. JUST, Secreta1·y Royal Commission. 

Bank of Van IJiemen's Land, Limited, (in liquidation),. 
Hobart, 15th February, 1892. · 

I HAVE the honor to acknowledge receipt of your letter -of even date, intimating the appointment of a 
" Royal Commission" to enquire into certain Balance-sheets issued by the late Directors and Manager of the­
Bank of Van Diemen's Land ( now in liquidation) previous to its recent failure, and making certain requests. 
in connection therewith. 

In reply thereto permit me to say I shall have mnch pleasure in consulting my co-trustee (Mr~ 
William Hart), who is at present absent froµ, Hobart, immediately on his return to the city, as to the 
advisability of acceding to the requests therein contained. 

Meanwhile may I request that you will be pleased to furnish me with a copy of the document" 
constituting the "Royal Commission," and also inform me under what authority such document is issued? 

I have, &c. 
G. P. FITZGERALD. 

T. C. JusT, Esq., Chief Secretarg's Of/ice. 

SIR, • 
15th Feb1·uary, 1892. 

I HAVE the honor to inform you that, at a meeting of the Commissioners appointed to ·enquire into and 
investigate the affairs and books of -the Bank of Van Diemen's Land, Limited, you were unanimously 
appointed to a~t as Accountant to the Commissioners, the rate of remuneration to be hereafter decided. 

I have, &c. 

C. J. MAXWELL, Esq., Gommenial Bank. 
THOS. C. JUS1', Sec1·eta1-y. 
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Sm, 

T!te Commercial Bank qf Tasmania, Limited, 
Hobart, Tasmania, 15th February, 1892. 

I HAVE the honor to acknowledge the receipt of your favor of this day's date, informing me that, at a 
Meeting- of the Commissioners appointed to inquire into. the affairs and books of the Bank of Van 
Diemen's Land, Limited, I was ~manirnously appointed to act as Accountant to the Commissioners, and I 
have now the honour to accept such appointment. 

I am, &c. 
C. J. MAXWELL. 

T. C. JusT, Esq., Secretary to tlte Oomm.is3ione7'S. 

In the lliatter of the Raval Ooinmission dated the twe{fth day ~f 
Februar_1;, one thousand eight hundred and uinety-two, to investi­
gate the A._ff"airs and Boo/is of the Bank of Van Dieinen's Land, 
Limited. 

To GEORGE PARKER FITZGERALD and WILLIAll! HART. 
You and every of you are hereby required that, all other things set aside and ceasing every excuse, 

you arid every of you be and appear in your proper persons before the Commissioners appointed under the 
said Commission at the Commercial Bank, Macquari~-street, Hobart, in Tasmania, on Tuesday, the sixteenth 
day of February instant, by half-past seven of the clock of the afternoon of the same day, to testify the truth 
according to your knowledge in respect of the matters as to which this Commission has been appointed to 
investigate, and so on from day to day at such time as shall be from time to time appointed by the 
Commissioners : And that you and each of you then and there bring with you and produce at the same 
time and place as aforesaid all Cash Books, Ledgers, J oumals, and other books and vouchers of the Bank 
of Van Diemen's J,and, Limited, and all papers and writings showing any particulars of transactions of the 
said Bank from the first day of January, 1890, up to the time of the closing of the said Bank, together with 
.all letters, writings, papers, memoranda, matters, and things in your or either of your custody, possession, 
;power, 01· control in anywise relating to the matters to be investigated. 

And this you or any of you shall in no wise omit under the penalty of every one of you of Twenty 
Pounds. 

Dated this 16th clay of Febmary, 1892. 
C. J. BARCLAY, President qf the Commission. 

ABOVE summons served on Mr. Fitzgerald personally by ~e, 12·45, Tnesday, 16th Febrnnry. 

THOS. C. JUST. 

THE like s·erved on Hon. Wm. Bart by Messenger Myles, by leaving it with Mr. W. G. Browne, at 
the Bank, 2·35 on 16th February. _ 

'l'o WILLIA~! GEORGE BnowNE. 

In the Matter of the Royal Commission datetl the 12th day of 
J?ebrum·y, 1892, to investigate the .AJfairs and Boohs of the 
Banh qf Van JJiemen's Land, Limited. 

Yuu are hereby required to attend at the Commercial Bank, Macquarie-street, Hobart, on Tnesday, the 
16th day of February, 1892, at the hour of half-past seven in the afternoon, to give evidence in the inve.sti-
gation under the said Commission. · · 

In default of your attendance, you will be liable to a penalty of Twenty Pounds, under the Act 52 Viet. 
No. 26. 

Dated this 16th day of February, 1892. 
C. J. BARCLAY, President o/. the said Cmmnission. 

Above served on W. G. Browne personally by Messenger Myles, at ~-35, 16th February, and on A. T. 
Bell, by delivery to Mr. W. G. Browne, at same time. 



IN THE SUPREME COURT} 
OF 'TASMANIA. 

].5 

In the Matter Qf an Action betiveen JoHN CHARLES W1_LLIAMS, 
Plaint{ff~ and JOUN PEARCE, Defendant. 

TAKE notice, that an Application was this day made to His Honor Sir William Lambert Dobson, the 
Chief Justice of this Honorable Court, on behalf of the Defendant John Pearce, for an Order to restrain 
you, Charles James Barclay, David Barclay, Charles M'Carthy Tenison, and Alexander Thomson, (Com­
missioners appointed to investigate the books and documents of the Bank of Van Diemen's Land, Limited, 
in order to ascertain whether certain Reports, Balance-sheets, and Accounts issued by the Directors of the 
said Bank correctly represented the true financial condition of the said Bank, and for other purposes) 
from compelling witnesses to appear before you, or proceedii;ig with the inquiry as to t_he affairs of the said 
Bank, or from inspecting the books and accounts of the said Bank, 01; from publishing any report thereon 
pending the trial of the apove aetion; and that, after hearing Mr. James Backhouse Walker of Counsel 
in support of the application, His Honor adjourned the further hearing of the said application till W ednes­
day, the seventeenth day of February instant, at ten o'clock in the forenoon, and ordered that notice of such 
adjournment be served upon you in order that you might appear and show cause why such Order to restrain 
you should not be granted. 

Dated this sixteenth day of February, 1892. 

J. B. WALKER & WOLFHAGAN, Attorneys foi· t!te .~aid John Pearce. 

To 11:lessrs. CHARLES JAMES BARCLAY, DAVID BARCLAY, CHARLES 
M'CARTHY TENISON, and ALEXANDER THOMSON. 

Attorne,1;-Ge11eral's O.ffice, .Hoba·l't, 10th .1l:la1·ch, 1892. 
:SIR, 

IN accordance with the request you made a~ om interview on Tuesday last, I now write to inform you 
that the object for which the Royal Commission has been appointed to examine the books of the Bank. of 
Van Diemen's Land is to ascertain what foundation there is for the statements made in the last two para­
•graphs of the Report presented by the Liquidators to the meetiug of shareholders held on the 27th day of 
January of.the present year, and for.the verbal statement made by Mr. Fitzgerald at the same meeting 
that the balance-sheet published by the Directors of tl111 Bank to the meeting of shareholders held on the 
·9th of July of last year was "a false balance-sheet." · , 

The scope of the Commission does not include any inquiry into the causes of the failure of the Bank, 
-0r into the value of any of the as~ets of the Bank, and the Government have no wish that the Commis­
sioners should make any investigation that will reveal the pa5t or present financial position of any customer 
or debtor of the Bank, and the Commissioners have .been so instrncted. 

I have the honor to be, 
Sir, 

Yours obediently, 

A. INGLIS CLARK. 
JOHN MITCHELL, Esqufre, Solicitor for the Liquidators 

of the Van Diemen's Land Bank, Hobart. 

· ROYAL COMMISSION V.D.L. BANK. 

Co1n1nel'cial Bank, Hoba1·t, 29th .i'l'Iarch, 1892. 
Srn, 

I HAVE the honor to inform you that, at a meeting of the Commissioners held yesterday, the following 
resolution was unanimously agreed to•:-

" That, since it was declared in open Court, in William$ v. Ptarce, by the Solicitor-General, . 
representing the Government and the Commissioners, that the object of the Commission was to obtain 
evidence whereon to institute criminal proceedings, the Commissioners are of opinion that an enquiry with 
such an avowed object is one that it would be derogatory to them to undertake." 

The Commission adjourned, pending the receipt of any further communication you may desire to 
make to them. 

The Hon. Attorney-General, Hobart. 

I have the honor to be, 
Sir, 

Your obedient Servant, 
C. J. BARCLAY, President. 
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Attorney-Ge11eral's Offece, Hobart, 29th .Jfarch, 1892. 

Sin, 
I HAVE the honor to acknowledg·e the receipt of your communication to me of this day's date, in, 

wl1ich you transmit to me a copy of the Resolution agreed to by the Commissioners at a Meeting held by 
them yesterday. . · 

You are aware that I was absent from Hobart when the application was made to the Chief Justice to· 
restrain the Commissioners from proceeding in the enquiry which they were appointed to make, and that I 
knew nothing about the proceedings attendant upop. that application until they had taken place. I had, 
therefore, no opportunity of informing the Solicitor-General of the purpose for which the Commissioners 
had been appointed, and I do not understand how he came to be instructed that the Commissioners had. 
been appointed to collect evidence for a criminal prosecution. 

As the Minister particularly responsible for advjsing the appointment of the Commissioners, and the 
Ministe!· also particularly charged with the supervision of the administration of the CI'iminal Law, I 
desire to state that when I advised the Governor to appoint the Commissioners I did not contemplate, 
and I do not now contemplate, any criminal prosecution in relation to the affairs of the Bank of Van 
Diemen's Land. 

The statements made by the Liquidato1s of the Bank in the Report submitted by them to the 
meetings of shareholders and creditors held in January last, together with the verbal statements made 
by Mr. Fitzgerald at the same meetings, and the contradictory statements ·made by Mr Browne, the late· 
Manager of the Bank, appeared to myself and to the other responsible Advisers of the Governor to call for 
an authoritative investigation in order to ascertain whether the statements made by the Liquidators or the 
contradictory statements made by Mr. Browne were correct ; and until Ministers are in possession of that 
information they are not in a position to conclude, and in its absence they do not assume, that any executive 
action will be required from them in reference to the affairs of the Bank. 

I l1ave, &c. 

C. J. BARCLAY, Esq., President oj the Commission apvointed to enquire 
into tlte Affairs of the Banh of Van Diemen's Land, Limited. 

A. INGLIS CLARK. 

In tfte Matter of the Royal Commission dated the 12th day of 
February, 1892, to investigate tlte Affairs and Boolts qf tlte 
Banh of Van JJiemen's Land, Limited. 

To GEORGE PARKER FITZGERALD and WILLIAM HART. 
REFERRING to summons issued on the 16th February, 1892, to appear before the Commissioners, when 

in consequence of certain proceedings the enquiry was acijourned sine die, the Commissioners propose to 
renew the enquiry at the premises of the Bank of Van Diemen's Land, Elizabeth-street, Hobart, as by 
you proposed, on the evening of this the eighth day of April, 1892, at 7·30 o'clock, when you are 
reque~ted to appear in compliance with the said summons. 

C. J. BARCLAY, President of tlte Commission. 
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REPORT OF SUPREME COURT PROCEEDINGS. 

In tlie Matter of a Royal Commission to rnquire into the Affairs and· 
Books of the Bank. of Van Diemen's Land, Limited. 

Xn <Ohambers. 

WEDNESDAY, 17TH FEBRUARY, 1892. 

Before His IIono1· Sm LAllfBERT DOBSON, Knt., Chief Justice. 

THIS was an application for ar:. Injunction to restrain the Commissioners from proceeding with an, 
ihvestigation of the Affairs and Books of the Bank of Van Diemen's Land, pending the hearing of a Civil 
Action Williams 'Jersus Pearce, which it was alleged might be prejudiced by the results of such enquiry. 

MR. J. B. vV ALKER appeared on behalf or the Applicants, and the SoLICI'rOR-GENERAL for the· 
Commissioners and the Government . 

. There wei·e present in Chambers the Hon. the Premier and the Members of the Commission with· 
their Secretary. · . 

Hrs HoNOR said he had adjourned the hearing of this case from the previous day in order that the 
other side might'raceive notice. . 
. MR. J. B. '\VALKER applied for a fordier adjournment of the hearing. He had explained to His 

Honor the circumstances under which it was that the Solicitor-General could not appear to argue the 
matter, as he was instructed by the other side; but he had communicated with Counsel in Launceston, and 
His Honor had remarked that it was probable the matter would require further and serious argument, and 
for this they wished the opportunity. He was not pr.epared to go on that morning under the circumstances. 

Hrs HoNoR : What do you say, Mr. Solicitor ? 
THE SoLICI'l'OR-GENERAL : l shall be happy to meet my learned friend's convenienoe, and I may say 

now that I ap]Jear on behalf of the Commissioners, -who have been served with a copy of the Order made· 
. by your Honor. I may say the Commissioners are only too willing to come to the Court, not only out of 
respect and courtesy to the Court, but to get the opinion of the Court respecting the Commission issued to 
them, as a doubt arose as to whether they should go on. They therefore wished to come into Chambers 
and to get an instruction from the Court in so far as the Court had power to instruct them. I only received 
my instructions last night, and the Attorney-General is absent from town. If your Honor wishes I can 
now go into the reasons why the Commission was issued. We have nothing to hide. 

Hrs IioNoR: Has there ever been a precedent in the history of the British Constitution of such a­
Commission having been issued? 

THE SOLICITOR-GENERAL : I cannot say. 
Hrs ·HoNoR: Never so far as I am aware, and I don't think you will find one if you go ever so far 

back. We have tribunals here which are entrusted with the trial and disposal of all Civil cases whether 
between the Crown and the subject or between subject and subject. We have also jurisdiction here to imter· 
into and decide on all criminal matters, and any other tribunal attempting to interfere with·or_take part in 
such proceedings would be prohibited, unless they were authorised by the power of Parliament. 'l'he Queen 
herself cannot give jurisdiction to any o·ne, or interfere with or take away from the jurisdiction of these 
Courts,-the Parliament alone can do these things. Whether it is right to interfere in the matter now under· 
consideration is a nice and a large question, and I think it will require very material consideration and 
argument. If any opinion is to be expressed at all I should like the argument to be in public and before 
the full Court. That would be the right course to take. It was contended that in the proceedings of this­
Commission there would be nothing to prejudice any one. Well, no one can put a report in a newspaper 
referring to a case. before the Co.urt without being guilty of contempt of Court. It is clear that nothing 
can be done that would be likely to prejudice the trial of any action coming on in the Comts. The question, 
is, would the proceedings of this Commission do so? If so, then you have no right to say that A, B, or C 
have examined the books and condemned certain persons for issuing false balance sheets. Where they refer 
to actions before the Court the press is not allowed to publish even matters of ordinary comment. I express­
no opinion now: the questions involved want the most careful consideration and argument, and I think the 
adjournment will be the best course. 

THE SOLICITOR-GENERAL : Yes, I think so. I may state that nothip.g was further from the idea of 
the Government in issuing the Commission than prejudicing any proceeding before the Courts. It was in 
order to collect evidence for another pui·pose which the Attorney-General contemplated. 

Hrs HoNOR : A criminal prosecution? 

THE SOLICITOR-GENERAL : Yes, it was with a view to obtain certain evidence. 
Hrs HoNoR : It was an innovation of the Criminal Law. He was. aware -that similar Commissions 

were issued and held in Ireland under peculiar circumstances and under the authority of Parliament, but 
in England even the Sovereign would not dare to attempt to interfere in any way with the jurisdiction of 
the Courts. · 

MR. WALKER: There would be no idea of that kind at the time, as there was no action brought. 
. Hrs HoNOR: No, no! that is quite understood; there was no action brought at the time the 
Commission was issued. 
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. The SOLICITOR-GENERAL said one reason for the Commission was that the Law Authorities could 
not get access to the books of the Bank in any other·way. They wanted expert evidence; and it could not 
be obtained in any other way, and without it they could not prepare a case for trial. Whether the course 
taken would commend itself to the Court was another matter ; but--

His HoNOR: It is not a question as to whether it commends itself to anyone, but whether it is the 
-right course to take under thA Constitution of England."_ 

The SoLICITOR-GENERAL: Yes, but there _is a difference between the law here and the law in 
England. 

His HoNOR: In England even the Queen herself cannot appoint a commission to enquire into any­
thing she likes, and especially if it interferes with any existing tribunal or prejudices any matter at present 
under enquiry before such tribunal. . · . · 

The SoLICITOR-GENRRAL : I · understand that ; but in Section I of the Act 52 Viet. No. 26 the 
·words are very wide : " Whenever by any letters patent issued or to be issued under rhe seal of the Colony 
·any persons shall have been or shall be appointed by the Governor or the Governor in Council a Commission· 
to make any inquiry, it shall be lawful for the President, &c." Although it may be said by some who took 
.exception to the enquiry that it might prejudice private rights, still, if there was the power to do it, the 
Attorney-General might have felt that he had the right and that he would do it. · 

His HoNoR: Any legal enquiry could be made in the ordinary way. No doubt there was no desire 
to prejudice anyone, but is this to be made an exceptional mode ofp'roceeding? Not even in the days of 
-the Stuarts is there a case where a Royal Commission has been issued to aid a prosecution, or to o-et 
.evidence to carry on a prosecution. I feel sure no one would desire to do that which is not constitutionally 
-right, and I.am sUl'e the last to do it would be those who advise His Excellency. The case is one bearing 
;many legal and constitutional aspects which will require to be carefully considered and argued. 

THE SOLICITOR-GENERAL : The Premier has a great respect for the opinion of the Attorney­
•General, and would like him to be present when the case is argued. I will therefore co11sent to the 
,application for adjournment,-in fact on my own part T would ask for an adjoumment until the Attorney­
General returns. In deference to the Court the Commissioners will hold their liands until the matter has 
been further decided and the Attomey-General has an opportunity of considering the case, and of giving 
His Honor the reasons why the Commission should be proceeded with. I am not now in possession of the 
-reasons why he issued the Commission. · 

MR. WALKER : My only object is to ask the protection of the Court for my clients, who may be 
·prejudiced. The contention will be argued out, and I should desire to have the opportunity of obtaining 
·Counsel to argue it. 1 • 

THE SOLICITOR-GENERAL· asked that His Honor's attention should be called to the words of the 
,Commission. 

His HoNOR: It is· not in evidence at present. 
THE SOLICITOR-GENERAL : The scope of the enquiry is such that it might prove the innocence of 

the persons concerned. · · 
H'1s HoNOR : And that would be an interference with the func.tions of the Court. 
THE SOLICITOR-GENERAL: But it does not' follow that the Report of the Commission would be 

-pub!ished. 
HIS Ho NOR: The m_e1·e sending .of the Report to the Governor is a publication . 
THE SoLICITOR-GEN,ERAL : At present we do not know how far the enquiry may implicate anyone. 

It is all hypothetical. They might be all quite innocent. 
His HoNOR: I think the cielivery of the Report would be a publication. The .Govemor is not bound 

-to secrecy, and he might give it to a clerk to copy, or its contents might get out in many ways. The 
matter had better stand over. I think all the difficulty may be removed by argument. When the A.ttomey­
General returns we will give you an appointment that will suit the convenience of all parties at any time it 

.is desired. Of course in the meantime nothing further will be done. 
The Court adjourned.· 
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E VI DENO E. 

P1·esent: The President (Mr. C. J. Barclay), and Messrs. David Barclay, C. M. T~nis?n, Alexander 
Thomson, and T. C. Just, Sec1·etary. Mr. G. P. Fitzgerald, one of the L1qmdators of the 
Bank of Van Diemen's Land, was also present by the permission of the Commissioners. 

MR. W. G. BnowNE, the late Manager of the Bank of Van Diemen's Land, was called in. 
. THE PRESIDENT: As you are awa1·e, Mr. Browne, we have met here to-night in obedience to the 

command of the Government of the Colony, and in accordance with a Royal Commission issued by the 
Governor in Council, to examine witnesses in regard to the issue by your Bank of what has been state~ to 
be a false balance-sheet. I may tell you, although perhaps it is unnecessary, that we are not meetmg 
in a spirit of hostility to ym1 or anybody else, but simply to enquire, as I have said, into the it~m~ of 
that balance-sheet. I think it just as well to explain this to you, because you will be one of the pnnc1pal 
witnesses whom we will examine. I will now ask you, MI'.- Browne, to take the oath. · 

MR. BROWNE : Would you· allow me to get my books and some notes I have, which I think will 
be of considerable assistance to me in answering any questions that you might ask. 

THE PRESIDENT : Yes, certainly. 
[Mr. Browne then proceeded to get his books.] 
MR. BROWNE : Before giving my evidence I am advised, as a formality, to take objection. to the 

legality of these proceedings on constitutional grounds. It is simply as a formality that I am objectmg. I 
am only too anxious to give my evidence, and to produce to you all the information in my power, but I 
have been advised to make a formal protest at once, but I prefer not to do that. I do, thoug·h, object to 
the legality of these proceedings on constitutional grounds. Of course I have no other objection whatever. 

MR. TENISON: It is an objection we cannot deal with. It is outside our pr~vince altogether to 
discuss the question you raise. We are sent here to do a certain work, and that work we propose to carry 
out. 

MR. BnowNE: I must look to the effect my evidence here will have upon me in the first place• 
Another thing I wish to do is to ask the Chairman, with your permission, to be represented by Counsel. 
(CHAIRMAN: Certainly). Then, of course, I could not do that to-night, but if you will allow me I am 
quite willing to leave that to you. If you think it advisable I should be represented by Counsel I should 
like that opportunity be given me to employ him, but if in your opinion I am just as well as I am, I am 
quite willing to go o·n. Of course you see that in all probability I will be asked some question that my 
Counsel would not permit me to answer, and without his advice probably I would incriminate myself. If, ' 
l10wever, you think I am_as well as I am I shall willingly give my evidence. 

THE PRESIDENT: I take it, Mr. Browne, it is open to you and competent for you to refuse to answer 
any question if you wish. Whether you had better be repre;ented by Counsel or not is simply a matter for 
your own decision. Personally 1 shall not object to your being so represented. 

MR. BROWNE : Of course, don't you see this, Sir, there may be questions put to me that I cannot 
know the importance of, and a reply might, as I said before, incriminate me ; but, as I have said, I am 
quite in your hands ; if you think that I am as well off unrepresented by Counsel then I will go on. Of 
course, you kriow the questions that you are about to ask me, and I do not. 

THE PRESIDENT : I am quite certain, Mr. Browne, that· so far as the Commission is concerned, what 
I said to you at the outset folly expresses what is in the minds of the Commissioners. We have simply 
got to ascertain if possible the facts, and enquire into the statement that you issued a false balance-sheet ; 
but beyond that we do not wish to go. There is not one of us wishes to take any ad vantage of you, or 
to put a question that you ought not to answe1·. The Commission has, I will repeat, not met here in any 
spirit of hostility to you, but simply to enquire into the issue of what has been said to be a false balance­
sheet. 

MR. BROWNE: I take it that you are all on one side, and I am without the advice of anybody. I 
think you a1·e all Counsel on one side. 

TnR PRESIDENT : You make a mistake. We are to question you on that balance-sheet, and you are 
at liberty to refuse to answer any question that you object to. We are not Counsel on one side. 

Mn. DA.VID BARCLAY: Certainly we are not. 
THE PRESIDENT: We have no d~sire whatever to take any advantage of you, Mr. Br<;>wne. We 

liave not come to any foregone conclusion in regard to the matter, and we are not in the position of Counsel 
at all, but simply as experts to enquire into the matters connected with the balance-sheet. 

MR. BROWNE : It was stated before the Judges that you were to make this enquiry with a view to 
getting evidence for a criminal prosecution. • 

_ .· Tim PRESIDENT: That is simply an error, and has been denied by the Attorney-General. '\\'e are 
not making this enquiry with a view to'a criminal prosecution. 

MR. BROWNE: I object to the Commission altogether on constitutional grounds. 
MR. TENISON: If Mr. Browne has an objection to the Commission 01i constitutional grounds, his 
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proper course is to apply to the Court to restrain us. We cannot discuss that matter now, it 1s out of our 
province. . 

THE PRESIDENT: l take it he hardly expects us to discuss that question-do yoi1, Mr. Browne? 
Mn. BROWNE: No, certainly not. I was told I could not possibly apply to the Court for an 

injunction. · · 
THE PRESIDENT: T may say to you, Mr. Browne, (and I am sorry that I have not the letter of the 

Attorney-General's here), that we distinctly refused to go on with this Commis11ion if the object was to 
obtain evidence for a criminal prosecution. VVe absolutely refused, and I regret that l have not the letter 
from the Attorney-General,-! must have left it amongst my papers; but I will tell you that in that letter 
he distinctly states that the object is not to collect evidence for a criminal prosecution. I will read to you 
a resolution we passed ·at a previous meeting, which led to the receipt by us of a letter from the Attorney-. 
General, in which lie stated that the object was not to obtain information for a criminal prosecution. The 
resolution is as follows:-" That since it was declared in open Court in Williams v. Pearce, by the 
Solicitor-General, representing the Government and the Commissioners, that the object of the Commission 
_was to obtain evidence whereupon to institute criminal proceedings, the Commissioners are of opinion that 
an enquiry with such an avowed object is one that it would be derogatory to them to midertake." 'l'hnt is 
the resolution, l\ir. Browne, so I think we cail now proceed. 
. Mn. TENISON : I think the request made by Mr. Browne to be represented by Counsel is a very 
judicious one, and I hope he will be so represented. He may be asked questions, his answers to which 
may, as he says, lead to results which he does not contemplate. I think it is very proper that he should be 
represented by Counsel. 

Tim PRESIDENT: That was our own idea throughout. 
MR. BnowNE: All I want is this, that my Counsel should be with me, and he would simply stop 

me saying what I ought not to say. I am perfectly willing to go on, but I think it is only proper that I 
should have Counsel to represent me. If Thad received your summons yesterday fo1· the enquiry to be 
held to-night, then I should have applied to you personally and got some one to represent me. Of course, 
I could not now, at the last.moment, get anybody. I do not want you to think that I am he:'!itating in any 
way; on the contrary, I am willing· and anxious that I should give you all the information in my power. 
I only received the summons to-clay, and consequently T have not had time to instruct my Counsel. 

THE PRESIDENT: I think the position you take up is a fair one. I am quite willing to let you 
object to answer any questions which you think may lead to the results yon speak of, ancl then take the 
advice of your Counsel on them. I think, however, it is a very simple matter that we have to enquire into. 

Mn .. DAVID BARCLAY : . I do not think there will be any question that Mr. Browne need not answer. 
Of course, if he objects, a note of his objection will be taken. 

Mn. BROWNE: Very well, then, I am prepared to sta'nd on that ; but~ would' like a note taken of 
my objection to the validity of this Commission on constitutional grounds. 

THE PRESIDENT: A note has been taken of that e~jection, Mr. Browne. 
fThe Oath was then administered by the Chairman.] 

Examined by Mr. DAVID BARCLAY. 
Mn. DAVID BARCLAY: Your name is William George Browne? 
Mn. BnowNE: Yes, Sir, William George Browne. 
MR. D. BARCLAY: And you were Manager of the Bank of Van Diemen's Land prior to its closing 

its doors? 
Mn. BnowNF.: Yes. 
Mn. D. BAnlJLAY : For what period? 
MH. Bnow}rn : It was in June, 1887, that I was appointed Manager. 
Mn. D., BARCLAY : And you remained Manager up to the date the Bank closed? 
Mn. BnowNE: Yes. 
Mr.' D. BARCLAY : Will you produce a copy of the balan_ce-sheet issued ·to the Shareholders of the 

Bank of Van Dienien's Land on the thirtieth of June last? 
MR. BnOWNE : Yes. Do you mean a printed copy?. 
Mn. D. BARCLAY: Yes, a printed copy. ' 
[Mr. Browne here produced a printed copy of the balance-sheet, date June 30, 1891.J 
Mn. D. BARCLAY: You can also, I suppose, produce the original of that? 
Mn. BnowNE : Yes. [Mr. Browne here produced the original copy of the balance-sheet, signed by 

John Pearce, Chairmp.n; ·vv. H. Burgess, Director; and W. G. Browne, Manager, and dated Hoba:t, 
13th July; 1891.] . 

Mn. D. BARCLAY : Will you produce also the i\:Iinutes of the meeting of your directors at which this 
Report was adopted ? 

Mn. BndwNE : At the meeting of the shareholders ? 
MR. D. BARCLAY: No, at the meetin()' of Directors. I mean the Minute of the Board at which 

this balance-shee(was adopted. Do you understand, the meeting at which it was resolved to iss11e this 
balance-sheet. ' 

Mn. 
0

BROWNE: Oh, yes. 
· [The Minute Book was sent for.] 
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MR. D. BARCLAY: We will now take the first item on the credit side of this balance-5heet. "By 

coin and bullion, £70,431 12s. II cl." Had you that coin in your coffers on the night of the 30th Jnne? 

Mn. BROWNE: I, of course, to-night expected that we were only going into the qne.ition of the last . 
two paragraphs of the Report of the liquidators, namely, "It appears there was an arrangement with the 
London and Westminster Bank for an npen credit with th1J.t institution amounting to £30,000. This 
amount has irregularly been included in the item deposits, £687,746 15s. 6cl., and on the credit side of 
the balance-sheet credit has been taken for the same sum, thus incorrectly swelling the balance due by 
other ·banks to the sum of £124,417 Us. IOcl. The second inaccuracy appears in the sum of £35,000 
borrowed from the Union Bank previous to the closure being altogether eliminated from the balance-sheet 
by reducing the item 'bil!R discounted and foreign bills receivable, and all other debts due to the bank' by 
that amount." Those are the two paragraphs that I nr.derstood yon were going into to-night, and I do not 
think you have any authority to question me about other items in the balance-sheet than those referred to. 
I was specially told before I came into this room that I wao, only to answer questions in connection with 
the two last paragraphs in that Report. [t is in connection with those two paragraphs that this Commission 
has been appointed, and I do not think I ought to be questioned on other matters. I have here a letter 
from the Attomey-General to the .solicitor for the liquidators, and it says plainly what the scope of the 
Cornmi;;sion is, .and what you are to enquire about. The lett~r says:-" In accordance with the request 
you made at our interview on Tuesday last, I now write to inform you that the object for which the Royal 
Commission has been appointed to examine the books of the Bank of Van Diemen's Land is to ascertain 
what foundation there is for the statements made in the last two paragl'aphs of the Report presented by the 
liquidators to the meeting ofsharehol<lers held on the 27th day of January of the present year, and for the 
verbal statement made by Mr. Fitzgerald at the same, meeting, that the balance-sheet published by the 
Directors of the Bank to the meeting of !'lhareholders, held on the 9th of July of last year, was a false 
balance-sheet. 'l'he scope of the Commission doe5 not incl nde anx inquiry into the causes of the failure of 
the Bank or into the value of anv assets of the Bank, and the Govemment have no:_wish that the Com­
missioners should make any inve;tigation that will reveal the past or present financial position of any 
customer or debtor of the Bank, and the Commissioners have been so instrncted." I think that very plainly 
puts what your duties ·are, and I do not think in the face of it that yon should question me on each item 
in the balance-sheet. 

THE PRESIDEN1': The Commission is issued "to make such diligent enquiries into the Bank of Van 
Diemen's Land; and to carefully investigate all such books, papers, &c." We do not wish to examine all 
the books of the Bank, nor do we want to know what concerned its customers. 

MR. BROWNE : Yes, I am quite aware of that. 
MR. DAVID BARCLAY : I may say that, in the first place, Mr. Maxwell has been appointed 

Accountant to this Commission, and in order to save him the trouble of going into all these accounts and 
making up a balance-sheet for the pmposes of the Commission, we propose to do a way with the necessity 
for a balance-sheet, and by questioning you on certain items contained in your own balance-sheet, get out 
the facts required. This is the only reason we have now for asking the question. 

MR. BROWNE: This is the position I am in. One of the liquidators l_eft Hobart yesterday, and one 
of them told me yesterday that personally he would object to an enquiry involving anything outside the 
two last paragraphs in the Report. Of course, l am only the servant of the liquidators at the present 
moment, irnd must do as they bid me. Again, I might point out to you that I have only to-day consulted 
my solicitors with a view to these two particular items. 

THE PRESIDENT: Recollect, Mr. Browne, that this is a Court constituti:>d under the seal and the law 
of the colony. 

MR. BROWNE : I am quite aware of that; but I have been informed that the statements I make 
to-night can be produced against me, and I have been told to say nothing but what concerns those two 
particular paragrnphs in the report of the liquidators. I saw a telegram to-day from Mr. Hart in which he 
said that he would object to this Commission unles, it was understood that you were only going to euquire 
into those two paragraphs, and I only got my summons at une o'clock to-day, and I have been ever since 
hunting for a particular letter that I wanted to put before you, because yon simply asked me to produce 
the letters. But if you are going right through the balance-sheet I think I must avail myself of the 
permission of the Prel\iclent, aml be represented by Counsel. · 

Tmi: PRESIDJ,,,NT : It seems a very simple question the one that has been asked. 
MR. BROWNE :. I have not heard the -i\·hole of the question yet. 

MR. DAVID BARCLAY: 'l'be question is this-Did you have in the bank £70,431 12s. llcl. in coin 
on the night 9f the 30th of June ?-Had you that money in the bank on the night of the day on which 
this balance sheet was made np? 

MR. BROWNE: Well, as I said before, really I must decline to answer that question. I can give 
you full particulars of that entry, but really I must decline to answer the question. 

MR. D. BARCLAY : The question is a very simple one, and requires an answer-yes or no. Of 
course, if you decline to answer it, the matter rests with the President and not with me; This is the 
question-Had you on the night of the 30th of J nne £70,431 12s. l] d. in coin in the Bank of Van 
Diemen's Land? · 

MR. -BROWNE: I do not think I should be asked the question. I understood distinctly that this 
enquiry _was to be limited to the last two paragraphs in the Report, and I was instructed to give no 
evidence except in connection with those two paracrraµhs. I must point out to vou that if you are going 
through the balance-s)ieet item by item all our ledgers must be gone through; but I was going to explain 
that I came here to-mght under the distinct impression that your enquiry was going· to be limited to those 
two paragraphs. 
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Mn. D. B./\RCLAY: I ask you a very simple question. 
Mn. BROWNE: And I say if you'are going to question me in this manner all the ledgers will have 

to be gone through. I say _it will involve that if you,take each item in the balance-sheet. 
Mn. TENISON: 1 do not understand the objection to answer the question,-it does not involve an 

examination of the ledgers. 
THE PRESIDENT : The objection to answer the question is that Mr. Browne states he was under the 

impression whea he came here to-night that he was only going to be questioned on the last two paragraphs 
in the Liquidators' Report. 

Mn. BROWNE: I assure you J am quite willing to answer any questions, but I have taken advice on 
the matter, and have been instructed not to answer anything but that which concerns the last two 
paragraphs. 

Tim PnESIDEN'l' : It is not perhaps for me to say anything by way of suggestion, but I would like to 
remind you of what the probable inference will be from yom· refusal to answer the question. ' 

Mn. BROWNE: I do not think you are altogether right in drawing an inference. 
THE PRESIDENT: I am not drawing an inference. You can easily understand the inference that 

will be drawn from your not answering the question. I assume that the evidence will liave to go to the 
Attorney-Gen~ral, and of course it will contain your refusal to answer the question. 

Mn. BROWNE: Will you allow me to lodge an objection on the ground that I am only the servant of 
the liquidators__, and I was told distinctly that the enquiry was to apply only to those last two paragraphs of 
the report. I had a written protest prepared, and had I thought the· enquiry was going into all these 
matters contained in the balance-sheets I would have produced it. I think, if I might be allowed to state, 
that Mr. ·Hart went to Launceston yesterday, and his telegram to-clay distinctly said, so far as he was 
concemed, he would refuse to give evidence before the Commission unless it was confined to those two 
particular paragraphs. 

The PRESIDENT : I may make this explanation in reference to the matter, and in regard to a 
conversation I had with the Attomey-G,meral, who ditl not wish the Commissioners to go throllgh the 
individual accounts of the customers of the Bank and inspect them, because it may harass the liquidators 
in their realisation of tlie assets of the institution. We have no intention of going into the books in that 
form, and a~l we want to know is in regard to the issue of the balance-sheet. 

Mn. FITZGERALD (who was present by permission) : I might explain a little further, that Mr. Hart 
in his telegrnm to-clay stated that we were only to furnish you with letters in regard to items mentioned in 
the balance-sheet-the 1ast two items; but Mr. Hart has reminded me on previous occasions that I have 
,,no authority to allow any investigation without his consent, and that is the position I ,ms advised by 
Counsel that I stood in. I think, therefore, under the circumstances, that Mr. Browne is right in the way 
he has put the ease before you. He was instructed this investigation was to concern those two items, and 
those alone. 

Mn. B1t0WNB: Yes, most certainly. 
Mn. TENIS<>N: The position he assumes is that he is only to be asked certain questions, and he 

refuses to answer any questions outside of the category he has fixed for himself: The question that has been 
asked in reference to the coin and bullion is at the root of the enquiry, and I do not see why he should not 
answer it. 

Mn. BnowNE : No. I came into this room to-night unde1· a distinct impression. 
of the liquidators of the Bank most distinctly and emphatically that the only enquiry 
into those two particular paragraphs mentioned in the Report, and I told him I was 
give my evidence. 

Mn. THOMSON : 'l'his, I take it, limits the powers of the Commission altogether. 

I was told by one 
to-night would be 

perfectly willing to 

Mn. TENISON : Certainly not; nothing can limit the powers of the Commission except a mandate of 
equal authority and power. 

THE PnESIDENT : I take it the witness can object to answer the question if he thinks the efiect of his 
answering it will be detrimental to his interests. 

Mn. THOMSON: I think we should say he objects to answer the question, and go on with the next 
one. 

THE PnESIDEN'l': If this is his final decision. 
Mn. BROWNE: The letter from the Attorney-General to the· solicitor for the liquidators distinctly 

says" the scope of the Commission doe:a; not include any inquiry into tlie causes of the failure of the Bank 
or into the value of any of the assets of the Bank, and the Govemment have no wish that the Commis­
sioners should make any investigation that will reveal the pa;;t or present financial position of any customer 
or debtor of the Bank, and the Commissioners have been so instmcted." 

Tim PRESIDENT: We have no wish to go into any of the caµses of the· failure, or to Se(! the 
customers' accounts in any way. 

Mn. BnowNE : That is all right. It is a matter of indifference to me who sees them. 
Mn. TENISON : That paragraph in the letter you have just read does not affect the answer to the 

question you have been asked. 
'1'1rn PRESIDENT : I take it it is simply this, a certain question has been asked,-it is a simple one, 

and if Mr. Browne objects to answer it his objection must be recorded. 
Mn. BnowNE : No, but it goes further than that. If you are going beyond these paragraphs then J 

must decline to give any further evidence at all. 
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THE PRESIDENT : Don't you think you had better see whether we are going beyond them before 
you make that statement? We have taken your balance-sheet of the 30th June, and taken the first 
line of it, and we have your certificate appended to it, and we ask yon whether that money was there or 
not, and you decline to answer the question. 

MR. BROWNE: I think that if yon are going through in this way, Mr. President, it is very unfair to 
put me in this position without Counsel to represent me, because I assure you I to-day was told, not once 
but half-a-dozen times, by people who ought to know, that the only enquiry you were going to niake to­
night was in reference to these last two paragraphs, and if that was not the case then I should have taken 
further steps to try and get an Injunction from the Supreme Court. I put in a formal objection to the 
constitution of this Commission, simply as a formality, but I am still of opinion it is a most unprecedented 
and unconstitutional procedure. . 

MR. DAVID BARCLAY: We must, then, pass the first question I have asked you? 
THE PRESIDENT: No, we must have a refusal. 
MR. FITZGERALD : I have stated that, so far as the Trustee~ are concerned, they do not object to the 

investigation. · 
THE PRESIDENT : If I may explain, I understood distinctly from you, Mr. Fitzgerald, and also from 

Mr. Hart, that your objectior.s were confined to our going through the Bank's books, as the matter might be 
open to misconstruction, and might prejudice the liquidators in their endeavours to collect the assets of the 
bank, and that you were anxious to a void anything like that. We gave you our assurance that we did not 
want to see a single account, and that any figures submitted to us we would take them at their face value,. 
and not enquire into them. 

MR. FITZGERALD: I am quite aware of that. 
MR. BROWNE : Just so. 
THE PRESIDENT : This did not touch the question at all whether you had that amount of coin and 

bullion in the bank on the 30th June. 
MR. FITZGERALD (to Mr. Browne): I should certainly answer the question. I think it is a question 

that Mr. Hart would agree to being answered if he were here. 
THE PRESIDENT : Why he does not answer it surprises me. 
MR. DAVID BARCLAY ; I think, Mr. Fitzgerald, if I did not misunderstand you, I made it clear 

that we were going to examine Mr. Browne, and yon said there was no objection. I made it my business 
to see you, and in the presence of Mr. Mitchell I understood you to say if we confined ourselves to the 
balance-sheet yon had no objection. 

MR. BROWNE : I think the question particularly alludes to Mr .. Fitzgerald's co-trustee, Mr. Hart,. 
and he raises an objection to my answering any question apart from the last two paragraphs in the Report .. 
He o~jected not ·only on the ground that was mentioned just now, but for several reasons which I am not 
at liberty to mention. I think if yon intend to go into anything beyond this that I will ask the President 
to adjourn in order that I might consult with Mr. Hart and with my solicitors. 

THE PRESIDENT : This is the only question we shall at present touch. We take it because it is the 
first. It specifies an available liquid asset of the bank. We will come to the next item presently. 

MR. FITZGERALD (to Mr. Browne) : If yotl take my advice, Mr. Browne, you will answer it. 
MR. TENISON : If it was a matter of cross-examination I should say Mr. Browne was right in 

exercising his discretion in answering or not answering- it, but it is simply a question asking confirmation 
of a fact he has already certified to, and I cannot see his reason for objecting to answer it. 

MR. BROWNE : I did not object to answer the question. What I object to is this : I came into this'. 
l'oom almost instructed by Mr. Hart to answer questions only in connection with these two paragraphs. 

MR. TEN ISON : Well, do you object because some one whom the Commissioners cannot recognise told 
you you were not to answer it ? 

MR. BROWNE: It will give people such a false impression, as the President has pointed out. · I 
object to answer the question, because I foresee it means going through the whole balance-sheet. I was, T. 
1·epeat again, instructed by Mr. Hart not to go into these matters, and I must obey his instructions. 

MR. TENISON: I am afraid you are rather straining Mr. Hart's views. 
MR. DAVID BARCLAY: We can ·say at once that we are not going right through the balance-sheet. 
MR. FI'l'ZGERALD (to Mr. Browne): I do not think this question would be objected to by Mr. Hart .. 
MR. BROWNE : But you will go on to other matters in the balance-~heet. 
THE PRESIDENT: Why not wait and see what we are going on with? 
M~. BROWNE: I think Mr. Hart would object to the whole affair. 
THE PRESIDENT : But he has given his consent. . 
MR. TENISON : We cannot consider Mr. Hart's views and opinions now. We are here to do a duty· 

commanded of us by the Crown. 
MR. BROWNE: No, I know you don't consider Mr. Hart, but I do. I can decline to answer any· 

question if I like. 
THE PRESIDENT: I want yon to say whether you decline or not ; only I think it is right for me to. 

point out to you that if you decline a certain construction might be placed on your refusal. 
MR. BROWNE: It is an awkward position I am placed in. 
THE PRESIDENT : Your refusal to answer· may be open to misconstruction (I say that in a friendly 

way), and probably may lead to results that you do not expect. 
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MR. BROWNE : That is the difficulty that I am placed in. I might here state that I consulted my 
solicitors this afternoon, not only one hut three of them, in regard to the last two paragraphs in the 
Liquidators' Report, and I distinctly understood that the enquiry was to be limited to those paragraphs. 
_ THE PRESIDEN'l' : I don't think we naed waste any more time on this· SL1bject. One of the liquidators 

has advised you to answer the question, and you won't do it. You have sworn to tell the truth, and surely 
your evidence would not be affected by private communications. 

MR. BROWNE : No; but I want to give you the truthful reason for objecting to the examination of 
the whole balance-sheet. I do not so much object to answer the q1iestion about the coin and bullion, but it 
may lead to going through the ledgers, and that I was distinctly told not to do. 

THE PRESIDENT: We do not want to go through the current account ledgers. 
MR. DAVID BAIWLAY: I will repeat the question. On the night of the 30th of June, 1891, had you 

coin and bullion in the coffers of the Bank to the extent of £70,431 12s. lld.? 
Mn. BROWNE : vVe had not in coin and bullion the full amount in the Bank on the night of the 30th 

of June, 1891. I think there was a draft for £5000 sold on that day, and we did not get the coin certificates 
till the following morning. We took credit for that £5000-that is to say, we knew we would get the 
certificates on the following moming from Mr. Tenison, and therefore we included them. We were too 
late to settle it that night with Mr. Tenison. 

Mn. DAVID BARCLAY : Then you did not have the £5000 which you have included in the coin and 
bullion on the 30th June, 1891, in the coffers of the bank. · 

MR. BnoWNE: No ; we were too late to ,settle it with Mr. Tenison. 
T1rn PRESIDENT : And was that draft reckoned as coin and bullion'/ 
MR. BROWNE : Yes. The certificates were got the next morning from Mr. Tenison and were 

included in that. 
THE PRESIDEN'l': You had credited your agents for it'! 
Mn. BROWNE: Yes; it was coin and bullion on the following morning. 
THE PRESIDF.N'r : The draft diLl not appear as a balance due by other banks in your balance-sheet, but 

as coin and bullion ? 
Mn. BROWNE : Qnite so,-as coin and bullion, and not as balances due by other banks. It was coin 

on the following morning. 
MR. DAVID BARCLAY: Balances due by other banks, £124,417. Will you show us how that item i1 

made up? 
MR. BROWNE : Yes. 
[The Abstract of Balances was here produced and inspected.] 
Mn. DAVID BARCLAY: Your accouritant. will be able to produce to our accountant the books and 

returns that are necessary to verify this? 
MR. BROWNE : Yes, certainly. 
MR. DAVID BARCLAY: Will you produce the letter from the London and vVestminster Bank 

authorising you to overdraw the sum of £30,000 over and above any securities they might hold? 
Mn. BROWNE: Of comse I might explain to'you at once that (referring to the statement of bala,nces 

due by other banks) includes the £30,000. 
MR. DAVID BARCLAY: I know. 
Mn. BROWNE: The letter of November 29, 1889, deals ,vith the £30,000, and says: "With regard 

to the facility of uncovered overdraft to the extent of £25,000 to £30,000 accorded to your bank by my 
letter of the 15th February last, my Directors are willing to accede to your request that the facility be 
extended to 31st Decemhel', 1890, and further to permit the li111it of £30,000 to be occasionally increased 
to .£50,000 as a maximum, it being- understood that the excess overdraft is to be temporary only, and to be 
covered up within a reasonable time." 

MR. DAVID BARCLAY: Will you show me the ledger with. the Colonial Bank Account? 
Ml\. B nowNE : Yes. 
[The ledger was here produced ::uid examined.] 
Mn. D.AvID BARCLAY: 'l'his entry (indicating the entry of £5090 a,bove referred to), was made, not 

<'ln the 30th June, but on the 1st July. 
Mn. BROWNE : Of course the accountant can explain why that. was pa~sed. 
Mn. DAVID BARCLAY : We will keep on the "amounts due by other banks," and come on to that entry 

presently. Was that £5000 draft drawn on the Colonial Bank included in the item "Balances due by 
other banks." 

MR. BROWNE : No, I don't suppose it is. 
Mu. DAVID BARCLAY: There is no such entry in the account of that bank in your books on 30th 

June. We will go on "'ith the London and Westminster Bank. You debited that Bank with the £30,000 
you were permitted to ovel'draw; will you explain why you made that entry-your reasons for making it? 

MR. B1wwNi. : vV e we1·e in the habit of taking- credit for the coin we were allowed to dJ"aw. We 
had from time to _time open credits on the London and WeBtminster Bank from £20,000 up to £50,000. 
V{e would debit the London and Westminster Bank with 1he amount of the open credit, and credit the coin 
in our current a,ccount ledgers. My object in doing it was this-

Mn. DAVID BARCLAY: Were yott always in the habit of doing that? 
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MR. BROWNE: Yes, always. 

~1:· DAVID BARCLAY: Can you read me the letter from the London and Westminster Bank 
authorisrng you to have £30,0Q0 over and above the securities in their hands? 

MR. BnowNE: Yes; but I will have to explain here that one of the letters is missing, and I have 
been all the afternoon trying to :find it, without .success. This is a letter dated the 29th of N ovem her, 
1889 :-" With regard to the facility of uncovered overdraft to the extent of £25,000 to £30,000 accorded 
to yom: hank_ ?Y my letter of the 15th of February last, my Directors are willing to accede to your request 
that th1s facility be extended to 31st of December, 1890, and further to permit the limit of £30,000 to be 
occasionally increased to £50,000 --. " 

. Mn. DAVID BARCLAY: Oh? that is the letter you read a little while ago ; but have you one of a 
later date? 

MR. BnowNE: Yes. Here j3 one from the London and Westminster Bank dated the 24th of March,. 
1891 :-" With regard to the facility of overdraft accorded to your Bank, the time having already been 
extended at ·your request to the 30th of June next, as advised by my letter o1 the 23rd of January, further 
questions as to renewal had better be left till about that period, when, if you have any definite p1·oposals 
to make, I shall be happy to place them before my Directoi·s ; in the meantime they would prefer that the 
arrangements already agreed to be carried out." Unfortnnately, I have hunted for the letter of the 23rd 
January, but have not found it. The letter of the 24th of March I think should be sufficient evidence to 
show you that the open credit was afforded us on tl1e 30th of Jnne, 1891. 

MR. DAVID BARCLAY: When was the entry regarding this particular £30,000 first made? 
MR. BROWNE : As a matter of fact, of course I would not always pass the entries unless they were, so­

to speak, necessary. If I had not occasion to avail mYself of that I would not pass the entry; but if my 
"bills payable" seemed to warrant it I used to pass the .;ntry. You see I did not avail myself of the credit 
unless it was necessary, but I never took credit for what I had not got. There is constant reference to this. 
We constantly had £25,000 to £30,000, and occasionally up to £50,000, and on one occasion £80,000. I 
never took credit tor anything that I was not authorised to use. 

MR. DAVID BARCLAY: The letter of the 23rd of January would reach you about the end of 
February, I suppose: will you read your acknowledgment of this missing letter? 

MR. BROWNE : That is the letter I canuot find; I have not apparently acknowledged that particular 
~~ . . 

MR. DAVID BARCLAY: It wo11ld reach you about the end of February. 
MR. BROWNE: I can fi~d no acknowledgment of that in my letter-book. The. letter of the 24th 

of March I should think would be sufficient. · 
MR. FITZGERALD: That letter has been exhibited at some board meetings that were held previously 

to_the liquidators being appointed. 
THE PRESIDEN'l': You see by this letter of the 24th of March, 1891, your open credit on the 

London and Westminster Bank in London was practically limited to the 30th of June, 1891. 
MR. BROWNE: No, it was not: it was from the 1st of April, 1891. 
THE PRESIDENT : The letter says: "The time having already been extended, at your request, to the 

30th of J nne, as advised by my letter of the 23rd of January." 
Mn. BROWNE: You would consider I had authority to draw that on the 30th of June, 1891, would 

you not? Of course we could ea~ily have made it the 1st of July of the same year. 
MR. DAVID B_ARCLAY: Was that £30,000 an addition, or was it the extreme limit secured· or 

unsecured? 
MR. BROWNE : Unsecured. 
MR. DAVID BARCLAY : To what limit were you authorised to draw? 
MR. BROWNE: On the 30th of June, 1891, £30,000. 
MR. DAVID BARCLAY : What had you in their hands, then, further than bills of exchange? 
MR. BROWNE : We had some £24,000 worth of Tasmanian Debentures. 
MR. DAVID BARCLAY: Did they belong to you or to the London and Westminster Bank? 
MR. BROWNE : To us, and we took credit for them. 
MR. DAVID BARCLAY: y·ou debited them in the full value of them? 
Mn. BROWNE : Yes, we treated it as a remittance; they were at liberty to sell them whenever they 

thought proper. 
MR. DAVID BARCLAY : If you debited the bank with them, how did they belong to you ?-did you. 

send copies of your account with the London and Westminster Bank periodically to that Bank? 
MR. BnowNE: No; of course they got copies of our balance-sheets regularly. We told them we· 

treated the Treasury Bills as a remittance. 
MR. DAVID BARCLAY : You made that entry, then, (let us understand the thing properly) 'to show 

your snareholders that you had moneys in London to meet those engagements, that is, your drafts .on them-
your "balances due to banks?" ' 

MR. BROWNE: Yes, in this way, that we were authorised by the London and Westminste1· Bank to 
take credit for every remittance we sent home to them. 

MR. D,AvID BARCLAY: Now,. do not let us get away from the subject,-let us confine ourselves to­
the £24,000 worth of Debentures and the £30,000 unsecured credit. You included this £30,000 in your 
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« balances due by banks," for the special reason that you wanted to show to the public t.hat you had got 
funds at home to meet your London engagements? 

Mn. BROWNE: No, that I had got an equivalent to funds to meet my balances. 
MR. DAVID BARCLAY: 'l'hat is your explanation'! 
Mn. BROWNE: It is one ofmy ,reasons. Perhaps I am wandering from the subject, but I know in 

my old service you would debit your London office for the bills sent home. 
Mn. DAVID BARCLAY: Will you tell me if you included in that amount the £30,000 authorised and 

the Debentures? _ 
Mn. BROWNE : The Debentures might be sold at any moment. The entries were passed for 

Debentures and we debited the London Bank with the amount when we sent it home; and we debited 
it with the £30,000 we were authorised to overdraw. 

Mn. DAVID BARCLAY: Will you tell me what was your object in debiting your London agents with 
unsold Treasury Bills, and debiting them wit4 the amount of overdraft they consented to allow you? 

Mn. BROWNE: So far as Debentures were concerned it was simply an· ordinary transaction. I 
don't know your system of Treasury Bills. 

Mn. DAVID BARCLAY: I am not here to be examined; but I may inform you that we never take 
credit for them in that way. We never do, or did. 

MR. BnoWNE: If they are ordered to be sold at once, don't you? 
Mn. DAVID BARCLAY: No; we don't take credit for them-: but we will pass that now. Can you tell 

us why the £30,000 is included? 
Mn. BROWNE: Because, as I explained at the meeting, I think I must show what I had to draw my 

"Bills payable" on. 
MR. DAVID BARCLAY: You included the £30,000 in order to show the shareholders thaL you had 

funds at home to meet those bills. 
Mn. BnowNE : That I had credit balance. 
Mn. DAVID BARCLAY:" When did those bills in circulation mature? 
Mn. BROWNE: Some of them were not matured. We did not credit the London and Westminster 

Bank till they matured. 
Mn. DAVID BARCLAY: When, in the ordinary course_, would these bills in circulation mature? 
MR. BROWNE: They were principally drawn at 60 days' sight. 
Mn. DAVID BARCLAY: Seeing this credit of £30,000 expired on the 30th June, was there on 

that very date money at your London bankers to meet them? 
Mn. BROWNE: It was so on the 30th June. 
Mn. DAVID BARCT,AY: But the credit expired on that date. 
MR. BROWNE: It was there on the 30th June. 
Mn. DAVID BARCLAY: How could it be so? 
Mn. BnowNE: Of course you are throwing a new light on the whole thing now. 
Mn. DAVID BARCLAY: If the credit expired on the 30th day of June, how can you say the money 

was there on that date? 
MR. BROWNE : This is an entirely new light to throw on the thing. 
'PnE PRESIDENT: Was this open credit renewed after the 30th Jtme, 1891. 
MR. BRoWNE: Yes, to the extent of £20,000. Our balance-sheet was made out on the 30th of 

June. 
TnE PRESIDENT: How were you going to meet the drafts? 
Mn. BROWNE: At that time we had a credit for that. 
MR. DAVID BARCLAY: It is not a question of how you were going to meet them,-it is a question· 

of how you stood with your agents? 
Mn. BnowNE: That is just what'I am stating. I am placed at a disadvantage. You have gone into 

the balance-sheet and prepared your questions ready for me, and I have been getting together facts con-
<.:erning the two last paragraphs of the Liquidators' Report. ' 

Mn. DAVID BARCLAY: I understand the position you take up, but I want to know how it is that 
the open credit expired on the :-}0th of June, and in the face of that credit having expired, you in your 
balance-sheet take credit for £30,000. 

Mn. BROWNE: But it did not expire until the 1st of July. We had it on the 30th of June. 
MR. DAVID BARCLAY: No, it expired on the 30th of June. It was cancelled on that date. 
Mn. BROWNB : I do not agree with you there at all. I consider that on the 30th of June we· 

had open credit for £30,000 from the London and ·westminster Bank, and that that open credit expired on 
the 1st day of July. 

Mn. DAVID BARCLAY: It was cancelled on the 30th of June., 
Mn. BROWNE: I am placed at a great disadvantage. What would your opinion be, Mr. Tenison? 
Mn. TENISON: That it expired on the 30th of .Tune, ,,f course. 
MR. THOJIISON : If you gave a customer a limit for an overdraft and it expired on the 30th of June, 

would you not send in an application for it on that day? ' 
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THE PRESIDENT: If you held a bill from a customer and it was due on the 30th of June, would you. 
present it on that day or the following? 

day. 
MR. BROWNE : I would not pr;esent it until the 30th of June, because it would be only dtte on that 

MR. TENISON : The credit expired on the 30.th day of June. 
MR. BROWNE: I maintain we were justified in including the £30,000 in our balance. 
MR. THOMSON: Yes, if you make it appear as balances due to other banks. 
MR. DAVID BARCLAY: Your explanation is, that yot1 include.cl it tci show everybody that you had 

available funds in London to meet those drafts ? · 
MR. BROWNE: Yes. 
MR. DAVID BARCLAY: How can you reconcile that statement with the fact that on that day your 

credit had expired ?,-or on the next day_:_taking your view as the correct one ;-how ran you reconcile 
the statement? 

MR. BROWNE: Well, to tell you the honest truth, it never occm·red to me before, that because the 
letter stated that the open credit expired on the 30th of June it was not available on that date. 

MR. DAVID BARCLAY: Well, supposing it expired on the 1st of July, you could not get your 
letters asking for an extension of it home until long after? · 

MR. BROWNE : Yes, but there may be other reasons,-! did not say that was the only reason. I think 
that is where I am at a great disadvantage. You hnve carefully studied all these questious, and I have not 
had the opportunity. 

MR. DAVID BARCLAY: I only studied it last night, and then jotted down a few questions to ask you. 
MR'. BROWNE: This was supposed to be a simple enquiry into th~se two paragraphs, and I feel now 

all the more necessity for being represented by Counsel. . . 
THE PRESIDENT : I do not see that we are going beyond the limits laid down by Mr. Hart. The 

liquidators assert that you wrongfully included this £30,000 in your balance-sheet. _ 
MR. BROWNE: No, excuse me, they did not. Mr. Fitzgerald asserted it. 
[It was pointed out the Report of the Liquidators bore the signature of ~9th Mr.· Hart and Mr. 

Fitzgerald.] 
· THE PRESIDENT : • In asking· you questions concerning the balance-sheet in regard to the £30,000 I 

do not see that we are placing yon at a disadvantage in the slightest way. 
MR. BROWNE: I maintain that ifcredit was allowed up to the 30th of June I hacl a right to tab 

credit for the £30,000 on tlrn.t elate, and I showed that it was to meet the drafts I had drawn. 
· THE PRESIDEN'l': Will you show us the letter in which the credit was extended? 

Mn. TENISON: The point is an extremely simple one. The £30,000 credit existed up to tl1e 30th 
June and then melted away, and Mr. Browne put it in his balance-sheet as cash at his bankel's to represent 
to the shareholders that there were actually those funds existing in London to meet the drafts, but he dii!l 
not show that the right to the £30,000 had melLed away with the 30th of June. 

MR. BROWNE: It was equivalent to cash so far as I was concemed. Do yon see what I mean? 
MR. _'l'ENISON: You take a wrong view of it. May I ask you, had you anything to authorise yoa to 

have a credit with the bank after the 30th J nne? 
MR. BROWNR: No, I don't think I had. 
MR. TENrsoN : This balance-sheet was got out on the 30th June, 1891, and on that diite the opem. 

credit had expired. 
MR. BROWNE: They w1·ote to us stating that the open credit had been extended to the 30th of .Tune, 

and on that clay they trnstecl we would make some other arrangements. They renewed it for £20,000. 

MR. TENISON: It was not renewed by telegram? 
MR. BROWNE: No. 
THE PRESIDENT: When did you receive the letter renewii1g it for £20,000? 
MR. BROWNE : About the first week in August. At this time we were overdrawn £40,000, and that 

is why they reduced it to £20,000. . 
'1'1rn PRESIDENT : You liad an uncovered overdraft? 
MR. BRO':VNE: Yes, in addition, and it was sometimes as high as £30,000 to £50,000. 
THE PRESIDENT: Yon were authorised to draw against the TreasLu-y Bills sent them? 
MR. BROWNE: Yes, we were, and a great deal more over and.over again. We never had less th~n 

£30,000. We were authorised at one time to draw £100,000 against Treasury Bills, but that was a special 
thing apart from anything el~e. 

MR. TEN ISON : Were vou actually overdrawn on the 30th of June? 
MR. BROWNE : We were unlimited. Those figures include all we sent home in the shape of bills. 

They simply held the bills, but we took credit for eve1•ythin0' we sent home. We used to pasB our draft1; 
to their credit when they matured regularly. 

0 

Mn. TENISON : You did not credit them until the bills yon drew had mattued. 
MR; BROWNE : We had authority from them to treat everythin?: we "ent home to them as cash, and 

in addition to that we had the £30,000 to om credit. That is to sav, we had credit for the .£30,000 11.11d 
everything we sent home. • 
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MR. TENISON : What I asked was, did the London and Westminster Bank not credit you with your 
remittances to them until the bills you remitted had matured ?· 

MR. BROWNE : No, tliey did not discount them. They used t~ charge us so much per cent. on the 
overdraft until they matured. They did not deb_it us with bills payable till they matured. We took 
credit for everything we sent home. · 

, Mn. D. BARCLAY : There were bills afloat which would be unprovided for on the expiration of the 
authorised overdraft ? · 

MR. BROWNE : Yes, but I expected to remit home a considerable amount of coin to meet' the over-
drafts. 

MR. DAVID BARCLAY : Where did you expect to get the coin from ? 
MR. BROWNE : I expected to obtain it from various sources, 
MR. DAVID BARCLAY: As to this entry of £30,000, Mr. Browne, can you point to any authority 

for making it in the way you liave done-can.yon show us any precedent for it? 
MR. BROWNE : I may tell yon this, that we have submitted it to the accountants in Melbourne, and 

they see no objection to that course. 
Mn. DAV:ID BARCLAY: Bankers? 
Mn. BROWNE : No, but I have had the opinion ·of two or three bankei·s . 

. THE PRESIDENT : These opinions were got after the entries were made ? 
Mn. BROWNE : Yes, after the bank closed. 
Mn. DAVID BARCLAY : Have you got the opinions? 
Mn. BROWNE: No, I have not. 
MR. TENISON : Who were the persons ? 
MR. BROWNE : I do not know that I am at liberty to say that. I did not get them myself, but I 

believe they have been got. 
Mn. DAVID BARCLAY : What would be the effect on the mind of anybody who might read that 

item '' Balances due by other banks" in the balance-sheet? 
Mn. BROWNE : Well, of course, I dare say many people would think that there was an· actual r.redit 

balance. 1 do not want to say they did, but what I wanted to say was this-
MR. DAVID BARCLAY; Yes, but let me ask you in another way : would it not mean that all your 

shareholders thought you were £30,000 better off than you actually were ? 
MR. BROWNE : No, I do not think so, because the London and Westminster Bank said to me you 

can draw £30,000 in addition. 
MR. DAVID BARCLAY: \-Ve understand the transaction; but I wanted you to put yourself in the 

position of an outsider, and consider whether on reading that balance-sheet you would not think you were 
richer by ·£30,000 than you were? 

MR. BROWNE: No, we make ourselves liable for it. It does not increase our balance of assets. 
MR. DAVID BARCLAY: It does by £30,000. 
MR. BROWNE : Not the balance. 
MR. DAVID BARCLAY: Surely it does. Take it in another way: how do yon judge the strength 

of a bank? 
Mn. B_ROWNE: By the coin. 
MR. DAVID BARCLAY: What would you, as a practical banker, consider the proper amomit to hold 

in ?Oin and cash balances in proportion to your liabilities? 
MR. BnowNE: Five shillings in the pound would be a fair thing. 
MR. DAVID BARCLAY : Don't you show by this entry that you are entitled on this basis· to have 

about £120,000 more deposits in your bank. Holding £30,000 in coin or cash balances woultl entitle you 
to this? 

Mn. BnoWNE : Of course I maintain that £30,000 was equal to coin. 
MR. DAVID BARCLAY: But it was not: in fact it was non-existent. 
MR. BROWNE : It never struck me before that the balance there e·xpired on the 30th of June. 
Mn. DAVID BARCLAY : It does? 
MR .. BnoWNE: It does not, because after I gave a man-credit up to the 30th of June I would not 

return his cheque till the following day. The credit, I maintain, was there when the balance-sheet was 
issued. 

Mn. DAVID BARCLAY : In this statement of balances due by other banks there is an item 
£8210 7s. 6d. 

MR .. BRoWNE: Mr. Bell must 'explain that. It is in his balance-sheet. _ 
MR. DAVID BARCLAY :. We have not yet got the minute adopting the Report and Balance-sheet. 
MR. BROW NE : It w~s confirmed by the Board after the meeting of shareholders., 
Mn. DAVID BARCLAY: That was at the meeting of the 20th of July. I want to know when it 

was submitted to and adopted by your Directors? 
MR. BROWNE: I do not know. 
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MR. DAVID BARCLAY: This .£30,000 put in '"'balances due by other banks" was put on the other 

side as deposits ? 
MR. BROWNE : Yes; ihat was 'the right way to treat it. 
MR. DAVID BARCLAY: Well, if you ask me, I think it was exceedingly wrong. 
MR. BROWNE : If I ·had done it any other way it would have made it worse·. 
MR. DAVID BARCLAY: What do you mean by making it worse? 
MR. BROWNE: Some people have .said that I have deceived the public, and I hold that if we had 

made the entries in the way some people wanted us to, it may have mislead them a great deal more than 
what they say they have been misled. 

MR. DAVID BARCLAY: Was it a deposit? 
MR. BROWNE: Not in the ordinary sense of the word. 
MR. DAVID BARCLAY: Why, then, did you put it as a "deposit" and not as a "balance due to other 

banks?" 
MR. BROWNE: I really could.not say .. 
MR. DAVID BARCLAY : It was a balance due to other banks. We will now leave that and go to 

the matter of the Union Bank. What was the amount due to the Union Bank? 
MR. BROWNE: The amount due to the Union Bank was .£35,000. 

· MR. DAVID BARCLAY: Wh3;t was the security held by the Union Bank at the same time? 
MR. BROWNE : I am speaking from memory now, and probably Mr. Tenison will correct me if I am 

wrong. .£35,000 was owing on a promissory note which had been discounted, and which did not mature 
until the 28th of August. We took up that promissory note and substituted other bills for it. I think 
that is right. 

MR. DAVID BARCLAY: That was the only ser.urity they had? 
MR. BnowNE : I think that was the first transaction. 
MR. DAVID BARCLAY: Well? 
MR. BROWNE : I am not quite sure about the others. 
MR. DAVID BARCLAY : When that promissory note matured did your bank pay it off? 
MR. BROWNE : No. The .£35,000 promissory note was taken up. It would not have matured till 

. the 28th of August, but we had to retire it, and we lodged other bills instead of it '! 
MR. DAVID BARCLAY: You substituted otlier bills? 
MR. BROWNE: Yes. 
MR. DAVID BARCLAY: What was the amount? 
MR. BnoWNE: It would be considerably over the .£35,000. 
MR. DAVID BARCLAY: It was really, then, a loan ofa certain amount on a very much larger secul'lty 

in the shape of bills? 
MR. BROWNE: It·was to take the place of the promissory note which had been discounted. 
Mn. DAVID BARCLAY: Did you discount the bills? 
MR. BROWNE : No. We lodged them with the Union Bank in lieu of the promissory note. We 

:mbstituted other bills to the amount of £45,000 to £50,000? Those were given as security. The bills 
were not discounted, but as the original promissqry note had been discounted I should call it a discount 
transaction. 

TuE PRESIDENT: Do I understand that the Union Bank actually discounted the bill for .£35,000 '! 
Mn. BROWNE : I think so, speaking from memory, but Mr. Tenison will correct me. Did we 

actually discount that bill? 
MR. TENISON : That bill was discounted. 
MR. DAVID BARCLAY: We cannot go right back to that. 
MR .. BROWNE : I think you are really trying to put the worst complexion on it that you can. The 

£35,000 promissory note was discounted with the Union Bank. 
Mn. DAVID BARGLAY: Let us understand each other. What did you owe the Union Bank on tbe 

30th of June ? 
MR. BROWNE : .£35,000. 
MR. DAVID BARCLAY: What security had they? 
MR. BROWNE : Certain bills. 
MR. DAVID BARCLAY: Was that a discount or a loan? 
MR. BROWNE : It was a disc6nnt. It is a matter of indifference how you put it. 
MR. DA vrn BARCLAY : Can you call it a discount? 
MR. BROWNE : I think you could-a re-discount of bills. 
MR. DAVID BARCLAY: And the amount? 
MR. BROWNE : £35,000. 
Mn. DAVID B.~RCL.4.Y: Were they discounted? 
MR. BROWNE : The bill was discounted. 
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MR. DAVID BARCLAY: Wel'e the bills which you deposited m place of the promissory note dis-
counted? -

M_n. BROWNE : They gave us back the promissory note we discounted, but then we had to deposit 
those bills-do you see? The advance was made ori"'inally on the promissory note and we had to redeem 
it by substituting bills in lieu thereof. "' ·' 

MR. THOMSON : Then, the bills were not re-discounted? 
MR. BROWNE: We handed them securities ia the shape of bills for between £45,000 and .£50,000, 

and we had to redeem these bills, so practically it was a re-discount. In the entries in the books of the 
B_ank the transaction was allowed to stand till th_e date _of the maturity of ·the promissorr note, and the 
bills to the amounts that I have stated were deposited until the due date of the promissory note. 

MR. TH0;1rsoN: This amount was to secure the second advance? 
Mn. BnowNE : Yes. 
Mn. DAVID BARCLAY-: There was no promissory not_e the second time? 
Mn. BnowNE: There was no promissory note the second time; we. substituted bills. The pmmissory 

note fo1· £35,000 was retired._ We had to tak~ the note up before maturity. 
Mn. DAVID BARCLAY: Y0t1 want to pin us to these two particular ttems, and direct]~- we try-­
Mn. BnowNE : I maintain it was a re-discount in every sens<J of the transaction. 
Mn. DAVID BARCLAY: We only wan_t to get at the facts. On the 30th of June, 1891, vou owed the 

Union Bank £35,000, secured by deposit of about £50,0U0 worth of bills? · 
Mn. BnoWNE : Yes, that is it, between £40,000 and £50,000, and the entries in the books stood 

unaltered. 
Mn. DAVID BARCLAY: How in the balance-sheet? 
Mn. BROWNE: The same way. 
Mn. DAVID BARCLAY: Will you show us the books from which you made the entry? 
Mn. BROWNE: Of course the entry shows it a discounted promissory note. 
THE PRESIDENT: The moment you bo1,rowed this money from the Union Bank you deducted it from 

both sides of your balance-sheets in your general weekly averages? 
Mn. ·BROWNE: No, we did not. 
THE. PRESIDENT : Did you do that in your weekly averages,-was_ it taken off every week? 
Mn. BROWNE: No; that was taken off the bills discounted the moment I discounted it, of course. 

I may say that had been the universal practice here long before I came into the place, and I, of course, 
looked upon it as correct. We melted a bill for £35,000 and turned it into cash. 

MR. DAVID BARCLAY: Let us put it in this way-: what was originally a discount you turned into 
a loan, on which you paid interest. 

Mn. BnoWNE : No, no,-we had no interest. 
Mn. DAVID BAHCLAY: The Union Bank allowed you to take up this promissory note and you 

simply put in .£40,0IJU or £50,0ll0 worth of bills as security for the redemption of that £ 35,0:J0 on the 
28th of August. · 

MR. BROWNE.: No, we actually ·discounted the bill. 
Mn. DAVID BARCLAY: Was the promissory note paid by your customer before the 28th of August? 

You say you did not imy the Union Bank. Did you give them security to be held till the 28th of August? 
Mu. BROWNE: Yes. I wish it to be distinctly understood that in passing that entry I was only 

carrying out what had been done for years before. 
THE PRESIDENT : Yes. 
Mn. BnowNE : ·we had had a previous loan from the U nton Bank. We substituted bills fur the 

promissory note maturing on the 28th of August. 
Mu. ·TENISON: With Mr. Browne's per~ission I will tell you·the facts of the case. Mr. Browne 

re-discounted the promissory note of a customer of his for £35,000: that was to mature some time in 
August. · 

Mn. BROWNE: That is exactly what I said. 
Mn. TENISON: Some time before the 30th of June Mr. Browne's customer. paid him the amount of 

that bill, but Mr. Browne represented to us that he had made such arrangements that it would be more 
convenient for him ifwe did not call on hiqi to pay us over the amount that had been paid by his customer. 
He said if we allowed hini to take up the bill he would do so by creating an overdraft, and as security fo1· 
that overdraft we were to take £40,000 or £50,000 in bills. We took his cheque for that amount, and the 
bill was given up to him to sunender to his custo~e1~. No interest was to be charged until the date of the 
maturitv of the bill, as discount for the- full term had been paid. Some discussion arose between us as to 
the queiition of th~ rebate, and the debt was p_raeticallr allowed_ to-~tand till the date of maturity of the pro­
missory note re-discounted. I could not call 1t a re-d1scount-1t simply became an overdrawn account. 

THE PRESIDE NT : You took additional security because you gave up the promissory note. 
Mn. BROWNE: 'l'bat is the way we treated such transactions when we were in the habit of re-dis­

counting. I could not see any other po~sible way of passing the entries than the ·way in which I did ; and 
it was the custom of the Bank. 

Mn. DAVID BARCLAX : Was that £35,000 advance a re-discount 01' a loan? 
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MR. BnowNE : A re-discount. I think you are trying to put the worst face on the matter. 
MR. DAVID BARCLAY : We are only anxious to get at the true state of the matte!'. I am n@t anxious 

to put the worst face on it, and you are quite undel' a misapprehension when you make st1ch a statement. I 
observe you say you sought advice as to the way in whicb this entry should have been made-can you tel1 
me whose advice you sought? . 

MR. BROWNE : No, I could not. I asked several people what they thought of the manner in which 
I had passed this, and they thought I could not possibly have done otherwise. They asked me what enti·ies 
I had passed, and I told them. 

MR. DAVID BARCLAY : Before the 30th of June? 
MR. BROWNE: Yes. 

MR. DAVID BARCLAY: "'-ould it be fair to ask you who it was you consulted? 
MR. BROWNE: Well, Jam not altogether sure; I know I mentioned it to Mr. Tenison. 
MR. DAVID BARCLAY: Did he agree with it? 

MR. BROWNE : I could not say tlrnt, but he had no objection to it. 
MR. TEN ISON: What was it you mentioned to me? 
MR .. BROWNE: The way I should make the entry. 

MR. TENISON: If you say I told you I had no objection to it, I must accept you!' statement, but I 
liave no recollection of it; in fact, I did uot know exactly what the entry was until this moment. 

MR. BnowN~ : I certainly told people on the other side at the time about that £35,000, and they saw 
no objection to me passing the entry in the way I passed it. 

MR. TEN ISON : If you say you did mention it to me, I suppose you did; but I never understood you. 
to mention it as seeking my opinion. 

· MR. DAVID BARCLAY: If you can say you had any good authority for passing such an entry there the­
matter ends. 

MR. BROWNE: I may say this, that I could not have better authorities than the men I _have con-
sulted since. 

MR. DAVID BARCLAY: Who are they? 

Mn. BROWNE: I cannot say. 
Mn. TENISON: You did not show-the same compunction or reticence J"egarding me. 
MR. DAVID BARCLAY: Is it not the invariable practice to show every asset a11d liability in the 

balance-sheet of a bank? 
. Mn. BROWNE: Certainly it is, but I do not exactly understand your reason for asking the question. 

It is so self-evident I do not see it. · This is all very irregular. Before my time in this bank I was never 
accustomed to re-discount, and the first time I did it here I turned back to the books, and you must have­
been aware at the time of the way it was done. There was a special occasion, when Mr. P. 0. Fysh was. , 
Chairman of the Board of Directors of this bank, where these bills were discounted or borrowed against. 
These books are in the bank now. I think it was on the 30th of June, 1884, when a similar transaction 
involving £22,664 was converted into coin. I believe it was on the 30th of June; and that coin was got 
from you. 

Mn. DAVID BARCLAY: Very likely. 
Mr. BnowNE: It must have been self-evident to anyone, then, that the bills had been converted into· 

cash on the balance-sheet. I thought my predecessor would have smely consulted some one. What ,I 
want to make understood is this-that when l\lr. Fysh was Chainnan the Manager was authorised 'to 
carry out a similar transaction, and I followed what was an invariable practice._ 

MR. DAVID BARCLAY: Don't you admit that every liability and every asset should appear on the 
balance-sheet? 

Mn. BROWNE : No, I do not altogether, if you are talking of re-discounts .. 
Mn. DAVID BARCLAY : Can you poinL to the balance-sheet of any bank which does not purport to. 

show the whole of its assets and the ·whole of its liabilities? 
Mn. BnowNE: Well, I don't.know that I can possibly answer such a question. I say that I am 

morally certain that there are plenty of banks with re-discounts who do not show them as re-discounts. 
Mn. DAVID BARCLAY: Will you tell us whose? 
MR. BROWNE: I am morally certain they do it. · 
THE PRESIDENT: Don't you think that the entry in question was calculated to deceive the share-

holders? If you can g·ive us an authoritative precedent fol' making it as you did there the matter ends? 
Mn. BROWNE : How can I give you a precedent? 
THE PRESIDENT : I understood from your statement that you could. 
Mn. BROWNE : I consulted other bankers in regard to these entries, and th.ey were satisfied that I 

could do nothing else. 
Mn. TENISON : I wish it to be distinctly understood that I was unaware of the matter. To my know­

ledge ~ never heard of it before to-day. 
Mn. BROWNE: I told bankers on the other side about the matter. 
MR. TENISON : Who were they? 
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MR. BROWNE: It was a personal friend of mine. 
MR. T BNISON : Why don't you give the name? 
Mii. BROWNE : He might not like to be brought into the matter. There was another gentleman in 

this colony, and he was asked specially about it. · 
MR. TENISON : I certainly cannot understand why you do not tell us on whose authority you made 

the entries. 
THE PRESIDENT : I hope Mr. Browne will not misunderstand- the object of the question, because if he 

·can give us a precedent there is an end to the examination on this item. 
MR. BROWNE : Don't you see there are others who have passed entries similar to that, but you coulcl 

not expect them to acknowledge that unless they were made to do so. 
l'HE PRESIDENT: If I write to-day to Melbourne and borrow £]00,000, with which I swell my 

-balance-sheet for a while and for a purpose, don't you think I am doing what is wrong, and calculated to 
mislead? 

MR. BROWNE : No, I do not share your opinion in that at all. 
THE PRESIDENT : Was not vour balance-sheet framed so as to mislead? Your clrafts were out and 

not presented, and yo11 must have lcnown that unless yon could arrange for a renewal of your Lon1on credit 
those drafts would be dishonored, because your credit expired on that or the following day. 

MR. BROWNE: I woulcl like to show Mr. Barclay that was not a certainty by any means. 
THE PRESIDENT : I shall be glad if yon will .. 
MR. BROWNE : 'l'hey over and over again allowed us to exceed our maximum credit when asked. 

You can see from this letter. 
MR. 'rENISON : But this letter takes strong exception to your proposal for increased overdrafts. They 

say:-" With regard to the facility of overdraft accorded to your bank, the time having already been 
extended, at your request, to the '30th of June next, as advised by my letter of the 23rd J auuary, further 
questions as to renewal had better be left till about that period, when if yon have any definite proposals to 
make I shall be happy to place them before my Directors; in the -meantime they would prefer that the 
arrangements already agreed to be carried out." 

MR. BROWNE: We have had £80,000 overdrawn at a time, so that you will see they did not keep 
us to the limit. 

The PRESIDENT: It is very evident that if the credit was not renewed on the 30th June, 1891, or 
special coin sent to meet the drafts, they must have been dishonored•: 

MR. BROWNE : I don't think you have any right to go into that question. As a matter of fact I had 
reason to expect a considerable extension of my credit; I hacl applied for it, and I was making arrangements 
for it. I also expected to get fonds in time to remit by cable, if necessary, to meet the drafts. 

MR. TENISON: You say you expected to cable home sufficient to meet your clrafts. 
MR. BnowNE : To increase our balance between the 30th of June and middle of August, when 

certain of those bills came due. 

MR. TENISON : From what source did you expect to get these funds? 
MR. BROWNE :. I decline to say. 
MR. DAVID BARCLAY: There is only one other question I will ask you, Mr. Browne. Whom do 

you recognise as the best authority ·on banking practice? 
MR. BROWNE : Well, I suppose," Hutchison." 
MR. DAVID BARCLAY : Did yon Qonsnlt him on these points? 
MR. BROWNE: No, I did not. 
["Hutchison" on Banking Practice was here handed to the witness.] 
M·R. DAVID BARCLAY: Do vou see in that halance-sheet of" Hutchi:son's" any reference to bills 

u·e-discountecl? • 

MR. BnoWNE : I do not think this is altogether a fair balance-sheet. 
Mn. DAVID BARCLAY: I have seen balance-sheets of Engli~h bankers just as full. 
MR. BROWNE : ·1 know for a fact that Mr. Tenison's •institution does not show any re-discounts. 
MR. DAVID BA_RCLAY: Don't they show any re-discounts? 
Mn. BnoWNE : No, certainly not. 
MR. DAVID BARCLAY: Don't they show it in any fol'm at all? 
Mn. BROWNE: No. 
MR. TENTSON : Does my institution re-discount? 
MR. BROWNE: lt does. 
MR. TENISON : How do you know that? it is a peculiar statement to make. 
MR. BROWNE : I know when I helcl my appointment in your bank re-discounts were not shown. 
MR. DAVID BARCLAY: We understand, then, that you passed this entry in accordance with the 

actions of your predecessor ? 

MR. BROWNE : I did this in accordance with the p1·actice followed before I took up the management. 
Mn. DAVID BARCLAY : Which had been done for years past? 
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MR. BROWNE: Yes. 
MR. DAVID BARCLAY: How far back is it when the £22,664 you referred to was lent, when Mr. 

Fysh was present as Chairman? · 
MR. BROWNE : That is only one of many transactions. That particular bill was the last half-year 

that Mr. Fysh was here. 
Ma. DAVID BARCLAY: What was the date of that? 
MR. BROWNE: I could turn up the minute-book. 
MR. DAvID BARCLAY: Would it take long to turn up the bill-book in which these entries are made?· 
MR. BROWNE : It has been done. 
MR. DAVID BARCLAY: And you consulted the books, and followed the entry as you there fou:nrl it?' 
MR. BROWNE : Yes, it was on the 31st of December, 1884. 
THE PRESIDENT : I think, Mr. Browne, that is all we shall require to ask you at present. 
MR. BROWNE: There is one thing, I have been told to ask for the certificate of inr1emnity, to 

witnesses provi<led for in Sect. 5 of 52 Viet. No. 26. 
THE PRESIDENT: All right, we will see about that. 
[Mr. Browne then withdrew.] 

. ALFRED THOMAS BELL called in and examined. 

BY MR. DAVID BARCLAY: Your name is­
MR. BELL: Alfred Thomas Bell. 
MR. DAVID BARCLAY: And you were the Accountant in the Bank of Van Diemen's Land? 
MR. ·BELL: Yes. 
MR. DAVID _BARCLAY: And you were so on the 30th June, 1891? 
MR. BELL: Yes, on tlrnt date I was. 
MR. DAVID BARCLAY: Would you turn up the Colonial Bank of Australia Account in the ledger-

on the 30th of June, 1891 ? 
MR. BELL: Yes. 
MR. DAVID BARCLAY: What was the balance on that date? 
MR. BELL: It was £1801 9s. 1 d. debit. 
MR. DAVID BARCLAY: In the balance-sheet did you put that balance down? 
¥R. BELL : I made it appear so. 
MR. DAVID BARCLAY: Look further down, where you have a credit entry of £5000. 
MR. BELL: Yes, we debited ourselves with £5000 on 1st July. 
MR. DAVID BARCLAY : What entry did you make in the books ef the bank on the 30th of June 

for that £5000 ? · 
MR. BELL: Credited coin in transitu for the £5000 drawn on the Colonial Bank. 
MR. DAVID 
MR. BELL: 
MR. DAVID 
MR. BELL: 
MR. DAVID 

made them? 

BARCLAY: How did you show that en'tr.v in your balance-sheet? 
Credit was taken for it as a deposit. 
BARCLAY: What effect would that have upon the shareholders of the bank? 
The coin was not in the bank on that day. 
BARCLAY: Have you any authority for making ~he entries in the form you have 

MR. BELL: No, not that I am aware 0£ I did not know whether we had it or not. 
THE l?RESIDEN'r : Do I understand that £5000 was also entered as a deposit among the ordinary­

deposits of the bank? 
MR. BELL : Yes. 
THE PRESIDENT: Yon did not inclurle it in balances due to banks? 
MR. BELL: No. 
MR. DAVID BARCLAY: Then, the result was that the coin in the balance-sheet was swelled by £5000,. 

and the deposits were swollen by another £5000. · _-
Mu. BELL : I believe the coin was there the next morning. 
MR. DAVID BARCLAY: The entries were made on the 30th June. On that day you took cr~dit for 

a draft which you drew on Melbourne for coin which you got from the Union Bank later on, but you didl. 
not have it on the 30th June'? · 

MR. BELL: Yes. 
MR. DAVID BARCLAY: There .was an error at all events in the balance-sheet of £5000? 
MR. BELL: Well, the coin was in transiti'i. 
MR. DAVID BARCLAY: No, it was not. You did not get the coin until the 1st July. 
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Mn. BELL: Yes. 
Mn. DAVID BARCLAY: To balance that, that .£5000 was put in your ordinary deposits; therefore, on 

the one side your deposits were swollen by a bogus ent1·y of £5000, and, on the other side, the eoin was 
swollen by £5000. 

MR. BELL: We had not got it on the night of the 30th of Jnne. 
Mn. DAVID BARCLAY: Did you make these entries yourself or by instructions? 
MR. BELL : By instructions. 
MR. TENISON : By whose instructions? 
MR. BELL: Mr. Browne's. 
Mn. DAVID BARCLAY: When was the draft drawn? 
MR. BELL: I am not quite sure as to the date. 
Mn. DAVID BARCLAY:· A.s a matter of fact, yon had not the funds 111 the Colonial Bank to meet. 

that draft. 
Mn. BELL: No. 
Mn: DAVID BARCLAY: You did not have the fonds '/ 
MR. BELL: No. 
Mn. ])AVID BARCLAY: Had the entry been properly made, then, on the 30th of June, the" balances 

<lue to other banks" would have been increased by £5000? - · 
~fR. BELL: Yes, of course. 
Mn: DAVID BARCLAY: To that extent, then, the balance-sh~et was incorrect? 
M1t.· BELL : I suppose it was. That draft for £5000 is dated June 30, 1891. 
l\fJ:l. DAVID BARCLAY: Can you tell us why it is not credited to the Colonial Bank instead of being 

passe_d to a suspense account. There is a proper entry for these things ? 

Mn. BELL : No. I followed my instructions. 
lil't. DAVID BARCLAY: If the proper entries had been made in respect of that draft or.. the 30th of 

June," balances due by other banks" would have been decreased by £5000? 
Mx. BELL: Yes. · 

Mn. DAVID BARCLAY: Then the balance-sheet was incorrect in that particular? 
Mtt. BELL: Yes. 
Mn. DAVID BARCLAY: To the extent of £50001 
:Mn. BELL: I do not know if the draft had been passed. 
Mn. DAVID BARCLAY: An improper entry was macle. 
Tirn PRESIDENT: By dealing with this draft in the way yon did, the coin was swollen by a sum of 

£5()00 which did not exist? 
}In. BELL: I do not know that it did not exist. 
THE PRESIDENT: Was it in your coffe1·s? 

Mn. BELL : No; but we got it from the Union Bank in the morning. 
THE PRESIDENT : You did not credit it, then, till the 1st of July? 
1\:l:n. BELL: It was down in· the suspense account. 

THE PRESIDENT : Can you show us the current account ledgers in which it appears? 
lfR. BELL : Yes, Sir. 
[The current account ledgers were here produced showing the entry of £5000.J 
lfn. DAVID BARCLAY: What is the date in the draft register? 
MR. BELL: 'l'he date has been altered ·in the draft register apparently from the 1st of J ulJ to the 

3fflth of June, but I do not know how that has happened. 
1'1rn PnESIDJ;;NT : What was the draft dated? 

:i\'ln. BELL: I cannot say whether the draft was dated the 30th of June or the 1st of July. 

MR. W. G. BROWNE 1·ecallecl a.ncl e.rcaminerl. 

NIR. DAVID BARCLAY: There is oue othel' matter in connection with the £5000 transaction. The 
'111.try, it appears, was made in the ledger on the 1st of Jnly, and in the dmft-book the enti-y appears to 
Ju.-,e been dated the 30th of J nue: when -n•as the draft drawn-on the 1st of July or the 30th of June? 

MR. BnowNi;; : The draft was drawn on the 30th of June. If Mr. Tenison recollec~, he did not 
J"a(jeive his telegram until after business hours. 

Mn. TENISON : I haTe no recollection of the matter. 
:i\fn. DAVID BARCLAY: "Balance from Colonial Bank on the 30th of June, £1801." That would 

li!e untrue if the proper entry had been made-what entry did yon make? 

:i\fR. BROWNJ;; : I told them to post it to bills payable. I was under the impre,,.sion it would be 
tireated as a bill payable. 
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MR. DAVID BARCLAY: The entry, as I understand it, was made under your instructions-Mr. Bell 
says so. 

MR. BROWNE : That is so ; we did not get the actual coin until the following day. 
MR. DAVID BARCLAY: Is that any reason why you should make the entry? 
Mu. BROWNE: We had no right to credit the _Colonial Bank until the coin was actually received. 
MR. DAVID BARCLAY: Notwithstanding your liaving taken credit for the coin? 
MR. BROWNE : I cannot see that it makes very much difference. 
MR. DAVID BARCLAY: You credit that draft on the 30th of June? 
MR. BROWNE : Yes. 
MR. DAVID BARCLAY : What was your reason fo1· not crediting the Colonial Bank at the very 

minute you took credit for the £5000 coin? · . 
MR. BROWNE : Well, I suppose we thought it better not to. 
MR. DAVID BARCLAY: Is that your answer? Why ditl you go out of your usual way? Did you on 

any other occasion make an en try like this ? 
MR. BROWNE: No. 
MR. DAVID BARCL~Y: Why did yon vary the practice on this particular occasion? 
Mr. BROWNE : As a matter of fact we did not want to credit the Colonial Bank. If we had credited 

them "balances due to other banks" would have been increased by £5000, or the "balances due by other 
banks" would have been decreased. 

MR. DAVID BARCLAY: It would have made a difference of £5000. 
MR. BROWNE: Yes, one way or the other, of £5000. 
MR. THOMSON: It _would have made the position worse by £5000. 
MR. BROWNE: No, by £3200. 
Mu. THOMSON: : It increased your deposits by £3200, and your credits by £1800. 
MR. BROWNE: It is a special entry, there is no doubt about it. 
THE PRESIDENT : This entry was made to represent to the shareholders that you had 5000 sovereigns 

which you had not got? 
Mn. BROW NE : Yes. 
l'HE PRESIDENT : If the thing had gone through in the ordinary proper way the coin and bullion 

w~mld have been £65,431 12s. lld., and not £70,431 12s. lld. 
Mn. BROWNE: That is so, but as far as we were concerned the transaction was completed on the 30th 

of June. 
THE PRI,SI·DENT: Had you any authority to overrlraw at the Colonial Bank in Melbourne? 
MR. BROWNE : Yes, I had an open creciit for over £10,000, which I never used. 
THE PRESIDENT: It seems to me, that on this 30th of June when you stated you held the coin and 

bullion for £70,431 12s. lld., yon did not hold it; you drew a draft, and. you did not credit your agents. 
with that draft. 

MR. BROWNE : No. 
THE PRESIDENT: Both sides of your balance-sheet to that extent must be wrong? 
MR. BROWNE : It is ~ctually wrong, no doubt; but I maintain that under the circumstances we were 

justified in passing the entries at the time. · 
THE PRESIDENT: We want to_get at tha facts first. 
MR. BROWNE: That would be a severe way of looking at the matter, considering Mr. Tenison did 

not get his telegram until after banking hours. We looked upon the £5000 as ours on the 30th of J urie. 
MR. TENISON : Even if the telegram about the draft had not been delayed, yotu balance-sheet would 

have been wrong ? . 
MR. BROWNE : Yes, to the extent of £3200. 
MR. TEN ISON : No, to the extent of £5000. 
THE PRESIDENT : 'l'he point arises-why make the entry on the 30th of June? Was it for the 

purpose of swelling your cash ? 
MR. BROWNE: Of course, every banker does the best he can to make his balances up on that date. 
THE PRESIDENT : Do you admit that you did it to make a better show? 
MR. BROWNE : I admit that under the circumstances we were entitled to take all we could get. 
THE PRESIDENT : You don't imply that other bankers do this sort of thing? 
MR. BROWNE : No. 
THE PRESIDENT : Is it not a fact that on the 30th of June the coin and bullion was actually 

£65,431 12s. lld., and not £70,431 12s. lld. as stated by you in the balance-sheet. 
MR. BROWNE : Yes, that is so ... 
Tmi PRESIDENT : And included in your deposits was an entry belonging to suspense account which 

was not a deposit at all? 
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Mn. BROWNE: Yes. 
TnE PRESIDEN'I' : So that, as a matter of fact you treated this entry exactly in the same way as the 

£30,000. . 
Mn. BROWNE : Almost identically. We knew the coin was waiting for us, and we did not pass thiil 

entry until we actually got the certificates. In the morning we practically got the cash. · 
TnE PRESIDENT: You had not the coin according to your· own 'ledger. 
MR. DAVID BARCLAY : We will say, for the sake of argument, you were right in taking credit for the 

coin, but why did yott not give the Colonial Bank credit for the draft you drew to obtain this coin? Why 
was the latter entry suppressed? 

Mn. BROWNE : I did not credit the Colonial Bank. 
MR. DAVID BARCLAY : You had the £5000 included in both yom " balances due by other banks " 

and in your coin and bullion ? 
MR. BROWNE : Yes. 
THE PRESIDENT : You had this £5000 twice over? 
Mn. BnowNE : My object was to take credit for as much coin as I legitimately could. 
THE PRESIDENT : You see you had it in both accounts on that day. 
MR. BROWNE : Yes, the cc;iin was virttially ours on that date-the 30th of June I refer to. 
Mn. TENISON: The £5000 was entered twice over to swell the apparent resources? 
THE PRESIDENT : y;es. 
MR. DAVID BARULAY: I think so. 
THE PRESIDENT : I do not see how you can get away from that. 
MR. Tnol\ISON: It is quite clear. 
TnE PRESIDENT : I think that will conclude our examination to-night. 
MR. BROWNE : Will you sign my certificate? 
Tim PnESIDEN1': You shall have it at the conclusion of our sittings, Mr. Browne. 
The Commission, at 11·10 P.M., adjourned. 



37 

EXHIBITS. 

A. 
'l'RUSTEES' REPORT. 

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF THE BANK OF VAN DIEMEN'S 
LAND, LIMITED, IN LIQUIDATION. 

LADIES AND GENTLEMEN, 

In accordance with clause 19 of 55 Viet. No. 17, the Act under which the liquidation of the Bank is 
being conducted, we have asked you to meet us to-day so that we may present to you onr first report on the 
affairs of your'institution, together with the Balance-sheet we have prepared as at December 31st, 1891. 

Since our appointment under the above-named Act we have been daily imployed in the liquidation of 
the Bank's Assets, conducting side by side therewith an investigation as to the position of your institution, 
and the causes which contributed to its failure on the 4th August in last year. The result of such investi­
gation as to the Bank's position is presented in the following Balance-sheet; the causes which, in our 
opinion, have occasioned its failure, will be referred to later on. · 

Before asking your attention to the Balance-sheet of _December 31st, we desire to submit for your 
information that of August 1st, 1891, some three days before the closure . 

.BANK OF VAN DIEMEN'S LAND, LIMITED, (IN LIQUIDATION.) 
BALANC-SHEET. 

To Capital .................................. . 
Reserve Fund ............................. . 
Profit and Loss Account .............. . 
Reserve for Bad and Doubtful Debts 

Current Deposits .......................... . 
Fixed Deposit.s ......... · ................. . 
Notes in Circulation .................... . 
Drafts on London and Bills Payable 
Balances due Banks .................... . 

Amount due to Public ..... . 

'1!-r■ 
.By Coin ...................................... . 

Balances due by other Banks ........... . 
Premises ................................... . 
Bills Discounted, Overdr:nvn Accounts, 

and all Debts due to the Bank 

E. & 0. E. 

.£ .~. d. 
250,000 0 0 

40,000 0 0 
5,042 2 10 

25,211 10 9 

287,868 13 4 
446,042 15 2 
40,302 0 0 

115,705 10 6 
67,266 14 2 

£ 
1st August, 1891. 

s. d. 

320,253 13 7 

957,185 13 2 

£1,277,439 6 9 

£ .~. d. 
15,763 19 11 
73,763 17 6 
31,421 8 5 

1,156,490 0 11 

£1,277,439 6 9 

BANK OF VAN DIE MEN'S LAND, LIMITED, (IN LIQUIDATION). 

BALANCE-SHEET. 

i.Br. 
'l'o Capital ................................... . 

Reserve Fund .......................... . 
Profit and Loss Account .............. . 
Balance of Old Reserve for Bad and 

Doubtful Debts ..................... . 

Current Deposits ....................... . 
Fixed Deposits .......................... . 
Notes ..................................... . 
Drafts on London and ·Bills Pavable 
Balances due Banks ( after taking 

Credit for "'£24,937 10s. Go_vern-
ment Securities held in London .. . 

. £ s. d. 
250,000 0 0 

40,000 . 0 0 
4066 18 10 

11,905 4 8 

233,440 18 2 
347,333 14 7 

1076 0 0 
49,256 2 11 

17,624 3 0 
Amount due to Public ... ---'----

£ 
31st December, 1891. 

s. d. 

305,972 3 6 

648,730 18 8 

£954,703 2 2 

* This represents the Actual Cost of the Securities, but it is not ~xpected that the full amount will be realised. 
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Q!r. 
By Cash ...................................... . 

Balances due by other Banks ........ . 
Premises ................................ . 
BilJs Disco,unted, Overdrawn Ac­

counts, and all Debts due to the Bank 

Total Assets ................................... , . , .... . 
E. & 0. E. 

£ s. d. 
32,857 18 3 

4734 8 7 
33,476 18 5 

883,633 16 11 

£954,703 2 2 

The surplus indicated in the Balance-sheet, which has been arrived at after writinP. off all losses 
incurred in every settlement made up to date, amounts, as you will observe, to the sum of £305,972 3s. 6d. 
Out of this surplus, after a most careful scrutiny of every debt due to the Bank, we have reserved a sum 
that should be sufficient to cover all losses likely to occur during the course of liquidation, leaving a con­
siderable balance fo1· clerical and other expenses. And we are of opinion that the entire inrlebtedness of 
your institution may be discharged without encroaching on the Shareholders' reserve liability, if only 
patience be exercised and reasonable time allowed. 

Progress of the Liquidation.-We are glad to be able to foport fairly satisfactory progress in the 
realisation of the Bank's Assets, the actual cash receipts to date within the Colony exceeding £260,000. 
After paying the dividend announced for the 3rd February the liabilities will have been reduced by more 
than mie-third of their total at August 4, 1891, an average reduction of quite £13,000 per week since the 
doors of the Bank were closed. 

The Expenses of Liquidation.-At th~ meeting of Shareholders at which it was decided voluntarily 
to liquidate the .Bank's estate, it was proposed to allow some 3 per cent. commission as expenses, 2 per 
cent. of which was to be paid to the Union Bank, were an arrangement/ entered into with that 
institution, while 1 per cent. was fixed as the Trustees' remuneration. This arrangement would have 
involved an expenditure of some £28,725. As you are aware, t.he proposed arrangement with the Union 
Bank fell through, and it- was decided to proceed with the liquidation with the assistance of such of the 
staff of your institution as it appea1·ed necessary to retain. A probable saving of some £10,000 in clerical 
assistance will thus be effected, but it is only fair to state that one result of the present arrangement has 
been to cast a much la1·ger share of work and responsibility on ourselves as Trustees. During the passing 
of the Act under which we are working our remuneration as Trustees was considerably reduced, owing to 
the belief that an anangement would be completed with the Union Bank. The changed circumstances 
will, we hope, induce the shareholders to consider our case, and increase our commission to the rate 
originally decided upon. 

The Branch O.ffices.-We have to report the closing of the Branches at Waramh and Burnie during 
our term of office. We hope to arrange also for the closing of the Launceston Branch at an early date. 
Some time will necessarily elapse before we shall be able to close the Devonport and Zeehan Branches, but 
we propose vacating the buil<ling now in occupation at Devon port, and engaging e.n office at a lower rental. 

The Banh Premises.-Reference to the Balance-sheet will show that the premises now stand at 
£33,476. In ordinary times tk, valuation would doubtless be more than realised, but we regret having 
to report that the premises at both Hobart and Launceston, when submitted for sale by public auction, were 
obliged to be passed in, as the reserves were not reached. Negotiations are still pending for the sale of the 
Launceston property, as well as for each of the Branches, witli the exception of that at Zeehan. 

The causes q,fthe Banh'sfailure.-The causes which led to the failure of the Bank may be briefly 
stated as follows :-

1. Want of discrimination on the part of the Manager. 
2. Want of efficient organisation among the staff. 
3. The absence of regular and systematic inspection of the customers' indebtedness. 
4. Ill-considered advances on overdraft in both large and small amounts. 
5. Permitting very large unsecured advances to one of the Directors, and large, although at the 

timE', fairly secured advances to the General Manager. . 
Had the amounts here ·alluded to, which were most irregnhrly permitted to be advanced, been in the 

coffers of the institution on the 3rd August, the much to be deplored stoppage might have heen averted, 
~nd had efficient management been exercised from that time forward, the losses to Shareholders would have 
been very largely reduced. 

The Directors' last Balance-slieet.-We have to draw attention to two inaccuracies in the Balance­
sheet of the 30th ,June, which for purposes of explanation we reproduce on next page:-

BANK OF VAN DIEM EN'S LAND, LIMITED. 
BALANCE-SHEET, JUNE 30, 1891. 

To Capital ...................................... . 
Reserve Fund ............. : .................. . 
Profit and Loss Account ................. . 

Due to Shareholders ........... . 

mt. 
£ s. d. 

250,000 0 0 
38,000 0 0 
]8,714 U 4 

£ s. d. 

306,714 0 4 



Deposits ...................................... . 
Ditto (Government) ................. . 

Notes in circulation ....................... . 
Bills in circulation and other Liabilities 
Balances due to other Banks ........... . 

Due to the Public .............. . 

39 

£ s. d. 
687,746 15 6 

98,269 5 2 
30,730 0 0 

ll!J,212 12 4 
· 14,360 8 11 

£ 

950,319 

s. d. 

1 11 

Total Liabilities ................. . £1,257,033 2 3 ---
By Coin and Bullion .......................... . 

Balances due by other Banks ........... . 

<!!t. 
£ s. d. 

70,431 12 11 
124,417 0 10 

Bank Premises .................................................. . 

£ s. d. 

194,848 13 9 
31,421 8 5 

Bills discounted, British and Foreign .Bills Receivable, 
and all other Debts due to the Bank .................... . 1,030,763 0 1 

Total Assats ..•.................................... £1,257,033 2 3 

Profit and Loss Account, June 30, 1891. 

mt. 
To all Expenses at Head Office and Branches for 

Salaries, Rent, Taxes, Stationery, &c ......... . 
Note Tax ............................................. . 

Dividend at the rate of 9 per cent per annum 
Dividend Tax ....................................... . 
Transfer to Reserve Fund ........................ . 
Balance to new Profit and Loss Account ..... . 

Q!t. 
By Balance from 31st December, 1890 ............. . 

Gross Profits for half-year, after providing for 
Interest paid and accrued on fixed Deposits, 
Rebate on Bills Current, and bad and 
doubtful Debts .................................... , .. 

£ s. d. 

506110 10 
243 10 0 

11,250 0 0 
42] 17 6 

2000 0 0 
5042 2 10 

Reserve Fund, .June 30, 1891. 

mr. . 
To Balance .............•................................... 

'1i'.r. 
By Balance, 31st December, 1890 ................... . 

'fransfer from Profit and Loss Account. ...... . 

w. 

£ s. d. 

5305 0 10 

18,714 0 4 

£24,019 1 2 

.±: s. d. 
4294 14 6 

19,724 6 8 

£24,019 1 2 

£ s. d. 
40,000 0 0 

£40,000 0 0 
----------

£ s. d. 
38,000 0 0 

2000 0 0 

£40,000 0 0 
.• -

G. BROWNE, Manager_ 

It appears there was an arrangement with the London and Westminster Bank for an open credit with 
that Institution, amounting to .£30,000. This amount lias irregularly been included in the item Deposits 
£687,746 15s. 6d., and on the credit sicle of the Balance-Sheet credit- has been taken for the same sum, tlill!s 
incorrectly swelling the balance due by other Banks to the sum of £124,417 0s. lOd. 

The second inaccuracy appears in the sum of £35,000, borrowed from the Union Bank previous to the 
dosure, being altogether eliminated from the Balance-sheet by reducing the item Bills discounted, and 
Foreign .Bills receivable, and all-other debts due to the Bank, by that amount. 

Yours faithfully, 

January 27th, 1892. 
G. P. FITZGERALD, } 
:.WILLIAM HART, Tt·itStees. 



' 

40 

B. 
REPORT of the Banh qf Van Diemen's Land, Limited, to be JJresented to the Sha1·eholders at the 

.H.alf-JJem·ly Geneml J.lfeeting to be held at the Banlting House, angle qf Gollius and Elizabeth-streets, 
Hoba1·t, 01i Thu1·sday, the 16th Jnly, 1891. 

THE Directors have pleasure in submitting to the Shareholders the Statement of Accounts for the 
l1alf-year ending 30th June, 1891, from which it will appear that after making deductions for Interest on 
Deposit Accounts, current expenses, bad and doubtful debts, and rebate on Bills not yet due, the balance 
of Profit and Loss Account available for distribution amounts to £18,714 Os. 4cl. 

The Directors recommend that from this sum £11,67117s. 6d. be appropriated to the payment of a 
dividend for the half-year at the rate of 9 per cent. per annum, and dividend tax thereon ; that £2000 be 
added to the Reserve Fund, making it £40,000, and rhat the balance, £5042 2s. l0d., be canied forward 
to the credit of next Account. 

JOHN PEARCE, Chairman. 

W. H. BURGESS, Directo1·. 
Hoba1·t, 13th .Titly, 1891. W. G. BROWNE, J.1fana.qer. 

[Balance Sheet as printed in Exhibit A.] 

c . 
.ABSTRACT of Balances at A.r;ents of the Banh of Van Diemen's Land, Limited, on 30th June, 1891. 

Billsfor Collection. Agencies. DR. CR. 

Victoria. 
English, Scottish, and Australian £ s. cl. £ s. d. 

Chartered Bank .............. Melbourne ......... 747 16 11 
Colonial Bank of Australasia ... Ditto ........... 1801 5 1 

Balance ········· ... 

£2549 2 0 
' 

Nen· South fValeH. 
Commercial Banking Company Sydney ............. 2126 19 5 
City Bank .......................... Ditto ........... ... 1424 1 3 
Australian Joint Bank ............ Ditto ...... , ... ... 3857 6 10 
English, Scottish, and Australian 

Chartered Bank .................. Ditto ........... ... 2727 5 2 
Balance .......... ... 

£2126 19 5 £8008 13 3 
Queensland. -

Queensland National Bank, 
Limited ........................... Brisbane ........... £534 13 4 

Balance .......... ... 

Nem Zealand. 
Bank of New Zealand ............ Dunedin ............ ... 257 11 6 
Colonial Bank of New Zealand .. Ditto ........... ... 213 9 2 

Balance ........... ... 

... £471 0 8 
Englancl. - -

London and Westminster Bank, 
Li1nited ........................... London ............ £108,341 8 3 

Balance ........... ... I 
Victoria ............ 2549 2 0 
New South Wales 2126 19 5 8008 13 3 
Queensland ........ 534 13 4 
New Zealand ...... ... 471 0 8 
London ............. 108,341 8 3 

113,552 3 0 8479 13 11 
Notes ............... 135 0 0 
Clearing ............ 2519 10 4 5880 15 0 
In transit ·········· 8210 7 6 14,360 8 11 

£124,417 0 10 
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[Entries in Bank Ledgers.] 

F. 
[Extmctfrorn Letter dated 29th November, 1889,fi·om London <J· 1-Vestrninster Banh, Limited, Lotlibury, 

London, E.G.] 

With regard to the facility of uncovered overdraft to the extent of £25,000 to £30,000 accorded to 
your Bank by my letter of the 15th February last, my Directors are willing to accede to your request that 
this facility be extended to 31st December, 1890, and further to permit the limit of £30,000 · to be 
occasionally increased to £50,000 as a maximum, it being understood that the excess overdraft is to he 
temporary only, and to be covered up within a reasonable time. _ -

I am, d_ear Sir, 
Yours faithfully, 

A. F. BILLINGHURS~, Counfry 11:fanager. 

W. G. BROWNE, Esq., .Manager 
Bank of Van Diemen's Land, Limited, Hobart. 

DEAR SIR, 

G. 
London and Westrninstei· Banh, Limited, Lothburg, 

London,· E.G., 24th March, 1891. 

I AM favoured by receipt of your special letter of the 14th ult., the contents of which are duly noted. 
With regard to the facility of overdraft accorded to your Bank, the time having already been extended at 
your request to the 30th June next, as advised by my letter of the 23rd January, further questions as to 
renewal had better be left till about that period, when, if you have any definite proposals to make, I shall 
be happy to place them before my .Directors. In the meantime they would prefer that the arrangements 
already agTeed to be carried out. 

I am, dear Sir, 

W. G. BROWNE, Banh of Van Diemen's 
Land, Hobart. 

Yours faithfully, 
H. F. BILLINGHURST, Country Manager. 

H. 
BANK OF YAN DIEMEN'S LAND, LIMITED, 

d. 

HOBART. 
.£ s. d. Hobart-

Treasury ....•.••................ 
Tellers .......................... . 
In transitu . ................... . 

Launceston-
1'reasury ....................... . 
Tellers .......................... . 

Devonport ..................... . 
Zeehan ...... · .................... . 
Burnie ......................... . 

£ s. 
49,105. 0 

4148 11 
5000 0 

0 
4 
0 

3100 0 0 
1562 11 1 

Bullion advanced on .................................. . 

58,253 11' 4 

4662 11 1 
1020 I 11 
1425 14 11 
1698 3 8 

67,060 2 11 
3371 10 0 

£70,4~1 12 11 
--------



42 

Attorney-General's Offece, 20th May, 1892. 
MEMORANDUM. 

Re CoMMISSION 'l'O INVESTIGATE THE BooKs OF THE BANK OF 

VAN DrnMEN's LAND. 

THE Commissioners a.ppointed by the Governor to investigate the books of the Bank of 
Van Diemen's Land having terminated their labours and made a Report to the Governor of the 
result of their inquiries, I think it proper that I should place on record the' following· observations 
on the application that was made to the Chief Justice for an Order restraining the Commissioners 
from proceeding with the investigation intrusted to tl~em until after the trial of the action Williams 
v. Pearce then pending in the Supreme Court. The .published reports of the proceedings which 
took place in connection with the application for the restraining Order disclose that it was applied 
for on the ground that the inquiry which the Commissioners had been directed to make was sub­
stantially the same as that which would be made on the trial of the action above mentioned. and 
that any previous investigation made by the Commissioners would be an interference with the 
ordinary administration of justice, because it would be calculated to prejudice and da_mage the 
defendant in that action, and would therefore be a contempt of Court. If the action Williams v. 
Pearce had been continued up to trial the jury would have been required to decide two questions, 
(1) Were the Report and the Balance-sheet published by the Directors of the Bank to the meeting 
of shareholders held on the 9th of July, 1891, true or false? (2) If that Report and the Balance­
sheet accompanying it were false, did the defendant concur in the making or the publishing of them 
knowing them to be false? And, so far as the defendant would be affected by the final result of 
the trial, the second question was the essential and all-important one, and the first would have to be 
decided only as a necessary preliminary inquiry for• the decision of the second. The Report and 
the Balance-sheet might both be false and fraudulent in every statement and item contained in 
them; but if the defendant did not have any share in the making or the publishing of them, or if, while 
concurring or taking part in the publication of them he was totally ignorant of the falsity of them, 
he would not incur any liability, and would be entitled to a verdict in his favour, notwithstanding 
that lie was the Chairman of Directors at the time the Report and Balance-sheet were prepared 
and in that capacity had attended the meeting of shareholders at which those documents were 
published, and had moved the resolution adopting them. (See in re Denham&' Co., L. R. 25, Ch .. 
Div., p. 752). · 

But the Commissioners were not directed to enquire whether the defendant Pearce or anyone 
else had prepared or published, or had taken any part in the preparation or publication of the 
report and balance-sheet in question. The entire scope of the investigation committed to them, as 
set forth in the words of the document by which they were appointed, was" to ascertain whether 
the reports, balance-sheets, and profit and loss accounts issued hy the Directors of the said bank to 
the shareholders in the month of July, 1890, and in the months of January and July, 1891, 
correctly represented the true financial condition of the said Bank of Van Diemen's Land, Limited, 
on the dates to which such reports, balance-sheets, and profit and loss accounts refer respectively." 
These words do not include any inquiry into the civil or criminal liability of any person, and they 
conclusively disprove the assertions that have been made regarding· the appointment of the Com-· 
mission, that it was the erection of a new tribunal to perform the functions of the Courts already 

· established by law to declare the g-uilt or innocence of persons charged with offences. None of 
those Courts has jurisdiction to investigate any matter unless the determination of the civil or 
criminal rights or liability of some person is involved in its decision, and therefore the restricted and 
non-judicial inqufry which the Commissioners were directed to make was one which none of those 
Courts was competent to execute. The Counsel who appeared before the Chief Justice to apply for 
the Order restraining the Commissioners from performing the task assigned to them freely admitted 
that the Supreme Court could not restrain the Crown from appointing a Commission of inquiry 
under the Royal Prerogative, but supported his application for the restraining Order on the ground 
that if individuals, although armed with anthority from the Crown, did illegal acts which interfered 
with the proper administration of justice, the Court would restrain and, if necessary, punish them. 
This pertinent proposition, in which every competent lawyer would readily concur, would at all 
times constitute an ample and all-sufficient argument for granting such an Order as was applied for 
on behalfof the defendant Pearce, if the task assig·ned by the Crown to the persons whom it was 
sought to restrain from executing it truly included anything illegal and prejudicial to the proper 
performance of its functions by any judicial tribunal. But I deny that anything (If that character 
was ·included in the scope of the inquiry which the Commissioners appointed to investigate the books 
of the Bank of.Van ·Die men ·s Land were dire_cted to make, and I believe that the following facts 
will be found to fully justify this denial. · · . 

It is, of course, evident that no question of interference with the due. administration of justice 
could be raised in regard to the appointment of any Commission of Inquiry by the Crown or by 
any legally constituted authority except in the contingency of a case pending in one of the Courts, 
and involving an investigation of one or more of the same matters embraced in the scope of the 
inquiry entrusted to the Commission ; and it is only when interference with the ordinary course of 
justice is a contempt of Court that"the Courts can exercise their summary jurisdiction to restrain or 
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punish it. The disclosure of particular fact5 in the course of one judicial proceeding may lead to 
the defeat of the prope1· administration of justice in another proceeding; and in order to prevent, as far 
as possible, any such result, the publication in the press of the evidence taken in a series of trials has 
frequently been prohibited by the Courts until all the trials have been concluded. But the witnesses 
who give the evidence taken in the first trial are not guilty of any contempt because the attorneys and 
counsel engaged in it, and who hear that evidence, make use of the knowledge so gained by them 
for the benefit of their clients in the subsequent trials. Nor can the attorneys and counsel in 
such cases be restrained from making such use of the knowledge g·ained by them in such .circum­
stances, or be punished for so using it. In any circumstances contempt of Court must include 
conduct coming within one of the following descriptions; viz.-(1) direct interference with the 
proceedings of the Court; (2) interference with a Judge or any Officer of the Court, or with a juror 
or witness or a party to a suit; (3) disregard or disobedience of any order or summons or other 
process of the Court ; ( 4) publication of any riiatter derogatory to the Court or to any Judge or 
Officer of the Court; (5) publication of any matter calculated or intended to influence the mind of 
a Judge or of any other Officer of the Court, or the mind of any juror or witness, .in reference to 
any case pending in the Court. I have therefore no hesitation in asserting· that the Commissioners 
appointed to investigate the books of the Bank of Van Diemen's Land could not have been guilty 
of any contempt of Court in making the enquiry committed to them so long as they did not 
publish ·any information obtained by them in the course of their labours, or any opinion or observa­
tions upon such information. All the reported cases of contempt of Court not coming within any 
of the descriptions of conduct that I have numbered (1), (2), and (3) place it beyond dispute that 

, there cannot be any contempt of Court outside of those three descriptions of cond net, unless there is 
a publication of something likely or intended to interfere with the regular course of justice. It 
would not be a contempt of Court on the part of any person to make use of all lawful methods 
available to him for the purpose of obtaining a knowledge of the facts involved in any judicial 
question upon which the judgment of a Court or the verdiC1t ofa. jury were to be subsequently given, 
and to form his own opinion in the meantime on the question to be so decided, so long· as he did 
not publish those facts or the opinion he had formed upon them to other personR. It is ·therefore 
very evident that, except upon the ground that the knowledge tq be obtained by the Commissioners 
in making their investigation was to be published by them, it could not be pretended that· 
there was any question of contempt of Court involved in their proceedings upon which 
the Court would have jurisdiction to interfere with them; and the Chief Justiee evidently felt the 
difficulty in the way of the Court assuming jurisdiction in fogard to the application made to him 
on behalf of the defendant Pearce when he put forward the proposition that the Commissioners, 
in sending their Report to the Governor, would be publishing it. He is also reported to have said 
that "clerks would copy it, and that was publishing it." ( Mercury, 19 February, 1892.) As the 
CommissionerR could not be responsible for anything· done with their Report after it had left them, 
al_ld as the application then before the Chief Justice was confined to. the Commissioners, I presume 
that when he spoke of clerks copying the Report he meant clerks employed by the Commissioners 
to make a fair copy of their draft Report for perusal by the Governor, and to transcribe the 
evidence to be attached to the Report. It is only fair t.o the Chief .Justice that I should note that 
he declined to give a final opinion on the application made to him, and expressed a wish that the 
matter should be discussed by the Full Court, and I feel persuaded that upon farther consideration 
he would come to the conclusion that neither the employment of clerks by the Commissio,1ers to 
copy their draft Report and to transcribe the evidence to be attached to it, nor the subsequent 
transmission of the Report and the evidence to the Governor, would 'bp such a publication of those 
documents as would g·ive. the Court jurisdiction to regard it as a contempt upon the application then 
before him. One very serious consequence of a contrary decision by the Full Court would be that 
the work of every Royal Commission hereafter:appointtJd to make any enquiry by which particular 
persons might be so affected as to make them desirous of baffiing it could be delayed for an 
indefinite period, and ultimately made useless, by a series of collusive actions abandoned before trial. 
The 5th Section of the Act (52 Viet. No. 26) which regulates the taking of evidence by Com­
missioners distinctly contemplates the examination of witnesses upon matters which may subsequently 
become subjects of investigation in either a civil or criminal proceeding in a Court of Law; 
and tl1e whole purport of tha.t Act, as well as the prerogative right of the Crown to appoint 
Commissions of Inquiry, might be practically frustrated in the manner I have indicated, if the 
transcription by clerks of the evidence taken by Commissioners and the transmission of that 
evidence and the Commissioners' Report to the Governor could be held to be such a publication of 
them as might become a contempt of Court. A consequence so serious might well make the 
Supreme Court pause beforn committing itself to a decision from which the only consistent inference 
to be drawn as to the ultimate reason for it would be that the Court assumed that the Crown itself 
intended to obstruct the course of justice by the publication of the evidence taken by the Commis­
sioners and their report upon it. But we know that the Court will not make any assumption 
derogatory to the honour and dignity of the Crown ; and the only other reason that could be given 
for restraining the Commissioners from proceeding with their investigation would be that they or 
their secretary or clerks intended or would be induced to improperly and disobediently publish the 
result of it. Here, again, the conclusive answer to such a supposition is that_ the Court will not 
assume a wrongful intention or a culpable \"reP.kness on tbe part of any person. There is also 
direct judicial authority that the employment of clerks or printers to make written or printed 
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copies of documents containing statements relating to a pending lawsuit is not such a publication 
of them as can be regarded as a contempt of Court. Nearly every brief prepared in a. solicitor's 
office for Counsel is of such a character that if it were published as a pamphlet, or as an advertise­
ment in a newspaper, ·with a view of influencing a Judge 01· the jury at the trial, the person so 
publishing it would be held to be guilty of a contempt of Court: and such briefs are daily 
copied by numerous clerks, and are frequently sent out to typewriters and law stationers for 
transcription. The proposition that such a 1:iractice is punishable as a contempt of 
Court only requires to be stated to show its untenability. In the case of the printers of The 
Champion and St. James's Gazette, reported in 2 Atkyns, p. 487, Lord Chancellor Hardwicke 
mentioned a case in which one of the parties, previous to the trial, had printed and published the 
brief prepared for his Counsel and had been adjudged guilty of contempt of Court for doing- it. In 
referring to that case, Lord Hardwicke clearly recogpised the distinction between such a publication 
to the world at large and the supply of the manuscript to the printer and his workmen for the 
limited purpose of making printed copies for the use of the Counsel. "The offence," said he, "did 
not consist in printing, for a man may give a printed brief as well as a written one to Counsel; but 
the contempt of this Court was pr({juclicing the world with regard to the merits of the cause before it 
was hPard." In the case of Platfr,g Company v. Farquharson (reported in the Law Reports, Chancery 
Division, vol. xvii., p. 49), it was decided that the insertion of an advertisement iu a newspaper 
asking for evidence in a suit then pending in the Court and offering a reward for it was not a contempt 
of Court. Such an advertisement could not have any result without an exchange of communications 
on the question involved in the suit, and these communications might be contained in letters or other 
documents copied by numerous clerks. The publication of these to the world at large would 
doubtless be a conteinpt of Court, but so long as they were used only in a private manner no 
contempt would be committed. The decision in this case, therefore, confirms that of Lord Hard wicke 
in reference to the printing of a brief for Counsel, and is another judicial authority against the 
doctrine that the copying by clerks of the evidence taken by the Commissioners would be such a 
publication of it as mig·ht become a contempt of Court. 

I now proceed to consider the appointment of the Commission as an exercise of the prerogative 
right of the Crown, and to examine the provisions of the Act 52 Viet. :No. 26, with a view ot 
ascertaining to what extent, if any, it recognises and implies a prerogative right on the part of the 
Crown to appoint Commissions of Inquiry. That the Crown has a prerogative right to appoint 
Commissions of Inquiry for any purpose not contrary to positive law or to constitutional priuciples 
and practice is beyond dispute. The existence of that right has been recognised and its exercise 
approYed aud invoked by Parliament in innumerable instances during the last two centuries. But 
in every instance in which the Crown has appointed a Commission of Inquiry by which vested 
interests mig·ht be affected, or which was a preliminary step to legislation on a subject in regard to 
which there was a strong· difference of opinion in the country, opponents of the inquiry in Parlia­
ment and in the press have denounced the appointment of the Commission as unconstitutional, and 
as a disguised attempt to accomplish an object not authorised by law. Two notable examples of 
this line of conduct by opponents occurred in reference to the appointment of the Royal 
Commission of J 833, to inquire into the working of Municipal Corporations in England, and the 
appointment of the Royal Commission of ] 850 to inquire into the discipline, studies, and reven11es 
of the University and Colleges of Oxford. In both instances ad verse opinions on the legality of 
such Commissions were obtained from eminent lawyers by the opponents of the inquiry, and among 
the adverse opinions upon the legality of the Corporations Commission of 1833 was one obtained by 
the 1\'Ierchant Tailors Company from Sir James Scarlett, and which was published in the Annual 
Register of the same .year (p. 158.) A· perusal of that opinion shows that the fundamental 
objection which its author had to m!ge ao-ainst the last-mentioned Commission was that it 
purported to confer on the Commission~·s compulsory powers of disclosure whid1 the 
Crown had not authority to impart to them. He also declared the Commission to be 
illegal, Lecause it purported to authorise an inquiry outside of the regular course of law into the 
manner in which private property was held and enjoyed. An adverse opinion on the legality of the 
University Commission of 1850 was g·iven on behalf of the University of Oxford by Sir G. J. Turner 
and Messrs. Bethel, Keating·, and Bramwell. These eminent lawyers condemned that Commission 
on the same grounds on which Sir Ja mes Scarlett had condemned the Corporations Commission 
of 1833, but the Law Officers of the Crown, Sir J. Dodson, Sir A. E. Cockburn, and Sir W. P. "\Vood, 
defended the legality of the University Commission against the attacks of the advisers of the 
University of Oxford; and the resolutions of the J ndges in the case of a Commission appointeU in· 
ihe year 1608 to inquire into the depopulation of Bedfordshire, and reported under the head of 
' Commissions of Inquiry" in Lord 'Coke's Reports (12 Coke, 31), were quoted by the Counsel on 
both sides in support of their respective opinions. These appeals to the same authority in support 
and in condemnation of the University Commission of 1850 led to a critical examination in the Law 
.lliagazine for August, 1851, of the resolutions to which such contrary interpretations had Leen given, 
with the result that one important portion of the Report in which they are contained was proved 
to be manifestly corrupt, and, in its uncorrected state~ nonsensical. 'l'he emendatious sug·gested by 
the reviewer were in favour of the legality of the Commission, but the objections reported by Lord 
Coke as having been made by the .Judges to the particular Commission mentioned in the Report 
remained intact. The first and second of those objections-viz., (l) that the Commission was in 
the English language, and (2) that the su~jects of the inquiry w~re not stated in the body of the 
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•Commission, but in an appended srhedule-would, of dourse, be dismissed without consideration 
at the present day. But the third objection is substantially the same as that which has 
been urged against many Commissions of Inquiry which have been issued during the present 
,cenrury-viz., that all kinds of false accusations and slanderous statements may be made against 
innocent persons by the witnesses who give evidence before the Commissioners, and the persons 
injured :will have no remedy, because the witnesses not being examined on oath in a judicial 
proceeding cannot be prosecuted for perjury, and are protected against civil actions for slander, 
because the statements made by them to the Commissioners are privileged. This objection, which 
has always been recognised as a formidable one to many Commissions of Inquiry appointed in. 
England, as also the objection raised by Sir J arnes Scarlett to the Corporations Commission of 1833-
viz., that it purported to invest the Commissioners with compulsory powers of -disclosure which the 
Crown had no authority to confer on them-have no validity in Tasmania since the passing of the 
Act 52 Viet. No. 26, which authorises Commissioners to compel the attendance of witnesses and 
the production of documents, and to take evidence on oath, and provides that every person examined 
under a Commission "shall have the same protection and be subject to the same liabilities in any 
civil or criminal proceedings as any person g·iving evidence in any case tried in the Supreme 
Court." Those objections cannot therefore be made against the Commission appointed to investig·ate 
the books of the Bank of Van Diemen's Land, because it was appointed subsequent to the 
passing of that Act. Nor is the other objection raised by Sir James Scarlett ag·ainst the 
Corporations Commission of 183:3-viz., that it purported to authorise an inquiry into the manner 
in which private property was held and enjoyed-available against the Commission to investigate 
the books of the Bank, because no assumption to confer such an authority is to be found in it. 

The only other objection that remains for consideration is, that the substantial purpose of the­
Commission was to ascertain whether a crime had been committed, and that the appointment 
of a Commission fo1· such a purpose is unconstitutional and unsupported by any precedent 
since the Revolntion of 1688. The assertion of the absence of precedents will be found to be 
erroneous. I shall hereafter refer to a number of Commissions appointed in Eng·land during 
the present century to inquire whether supposed crimes had been committed. It is, how­
ever, alleg·ed that the last-stated objection, like those I have already considered, is supported by 
the venerable authority of Lord Coke, ·who, after stating the resolutions of the Judges containing 
the other objections to Commissions of Inquiry, adds, "and no such Commission ever was seen to 
inquire only (i.e. of crimes)." It is around these words, particularly the last two, viz., "of crimes," 
that the controversy regarding.the legality of a larg·e number of the Commissions appointed in 
England has revolved. The disputants on one side have always maintained that the words of 
Lord Coke condemn every Commission of Inquiry t_he object of which is to ascertain whether a 
crime has been committed, notwithstanding that there may be no direction in it to inquire as to the 

. person by whom the crime was committed. The disputants on the othel' side argue that the 
Commissions condemned by Lord Coke were such as were directed to thA discovery of the persons 
who had perpetrated partic11lar crimes, and that such Cominissions are illegal, because they 
purported to authorise the performance by an irregular tribunal of one of the fundamental 
functions of the regular Courts of law, viz., to determine the question of the guilt or innocence of 
accused persons. It is evident that Lord Coke could not have intended to make the unqualified 
statement that an inquiry into the circumstances attending a supposed crime, without a previous or 
simultaneous accusation of any person, and a concurrent investigation of the accused person's 
guilt or innocence, was unknown to the law of England, because the office of Coroner had 
existed in England for at least five centuries before Lord Coke wrote, and had substantially the 
same duties attached to it that belong- to- it at the present day ; and the origin of the office in many 
parts of the kingdom was ?, Charter from the Crown, granted by virtue of its prerogative right to 
create franchises and corporations. But whatever may be the correct interpretation of Lord Coke's 
language, and notwithstanding repeated appeals to it in the British Parliament as an authority 
condemnatory of Commissions to inquire into alleged offences, we find that during the present 
century a succession of Commissions to inquire into the circumstances attending alleged or supposed 
crimes have been issued in England under the immediate advice and approval of some of the most 
eminent Lord Chancellors and Judges that have sat upon the Benell in that country. It therefore. 
appears that, if Lord Coke's dictum includes such Commissions, his words have not been regarded 
by some of t:he highest exponents of the law of England in recent times as . containing a correct 
statement of that law on this subject. · . 

In the year 1806 a Royal Commission, consisting of Lord Chancellor Erskine, Lord Ellen­
borough (Chief Justice), Lord Grenville and Earl Spencer, was appointed to investigate charges of 
adultery and infanticide which had been made against the Princess of Wales. 'l'he Solicitor­
General (Sir Samuel Romilly), was appointed Secretary to the· Commission, and in that capacity 
took clown the evidence. The Commissioners examined a number of witnesses and reported to the 
King that they were of opinion that the Princei;;s was innocent of the charges which had been_ 
made against her. Seven years afterwards the proceedings of the Commission were made the 
subject of debate in both Houses of Parliam'ent, but the legality of the Commission was not 
challenged in either House (See Hansard, Vol. 25, pp. 142-224). Half a century later Lord 
Campbell referred at some length to the matter in his Life of Lord Ellen borough ( Lives of the 
Chief Justices, Vol. IV., pp. 267-272), and challenged an assertion made by Lord Ellenborough 
of his right to pui leading questions to witnesses on such an enc1uiry; but he gives no indication 
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that the legality of the Cominission was ever questioned ; and it would be something very 
remarkable if a Lord Chancellor and a Chief Justice of England in the present century had con­
sented to be members of an illegal Commission, and a lawyer of the attainments of Sir Samuel 
Romilly, and holding the responsible position of Solicitor-General, had allowed himself to act as 
Secretary to it ; and tbat another Lord Chancellor, referring pointedly to the matter fifty years 
afterwards in a critical biography of that Chief Justice written shortly after the long· controversy 
in Parliament and the press on the legality of the University Commission of 1850, should omit to 
notice the illegality of the earlier Commission to which he was referring. 

The unhappy condition of Ireland has necessitated the appointment of many Commissions to 
investigate the circumstances attending the· perpetration of outrages and crimes in that country 
during the last fifty years, and several of them have been made the subjects of lengtlay debates in 
the British Parliament, in which their legality has be_en fully discussed. One of. those debates took 
place in the House of Lords in the year 1850 upon the appointment of a Commission in the 
preceding· year to investigate an affray that occurred at a place called Dolly's Brae (Hansard, vol. 
108, pp. 886-968). The inquiry made in that instance led to the dismissal of the Earl of Roden 

'from the magistracy of Ireland, and Lord Stanley brought the matter under the notice. of the House 
of Lords, and quoted the opinion of Mr. V\Thiteside, who then occupied a prominent position at the 
Bar in Ireland, that the Commission was illeg·al. The opinion of 1vir. Whiteside was based on 
the resolutions of the Judges contained in Lord Coke's Reports, and on the dictum of Lord Coke 
himself, which I have already quoted; and the arg·uments used by Mr. ,Vhiteside in support of 
his opinion were substantially a repetition of those contained in the third of those resolutions, viz., 
that witnesses swo1;n and examined before the Commissioner could not be prosecuted for perjury, 
and that such an inquiry permitted the defamation of individuals, who would be without remedy 
for the wrong done to them. The latter argument derived tht1 most of its force from the fact that 
the investigation in that instance had been conducted in open Court and had been reported and 
published in the Press. This fact also enabled Lord Stanley to argue that the proceedings of the 
Commissioner were prejudicial to the administration of justice, and he stated that if the investigation 
had been conducted privately he ·w~rnld have had less objection to it. · 

In the year 1864 a Royal Commission was appointed to inquire into the riots that occurred 
in that year in Belfast; and in the following year a lengthy and animated debate took place upon 
the subject in the Honse of Commons. The legality of the Commission was attacked by Sir Hugh 
Cairns and by Mr. Whiteside, whose opinion on the illegality of the Commission to investig_~!~ 
the affray at Dolly's Brae in 1849 had been quoted by Lord Stanley in the House of Lords, and 
who since then had become a l\ifomber of the House of Commons. Both these learned gentlemen 
quoted Lord Coke's Reports in support of. their impeachment of -the Commission, and their 
arguments against it were-(1) That the Commissioners had no power to administer an oath, and 
that they examined witnesses in open Court without that safeguard ; (2) That the unreliable 
evidence so obtained was published in the press while a number of persons implicated in the riots 
were awaiting, trial, and was therefore an obstruction to the course of iustice by the influence it 
would exert on the minds of witnesses and jurors. (Hansard, vol. 177, pp. 328-409.) 

It is manifest that the objections mg·ed by Lord Stanley and Sir Hugh Cairns and Mr. 
"Whiteside against the legality of the two last-mentioned Commissions cannot apply to the 
proct1edings of the Commissioners _appointed to investigate the books of the Bank of Van Diemen's 
Land, because those proceedings were strictly private, and were conducted under the provisions of 
rhe Act 52 Viet. No. 26. It is therefore scarcely necessary for me to refer to the able reply made 
by the Home Secretary, Sir George Grey, to the speeches of Sir Hugh Cairns and Mr. \Vhite­
side; but I desire to call attention to the two instances mentioned bv him in which similar Com­
missions to that impugned by his opponents were appointed to enquii·e into disturbances that took 
place in England. One of the instances ·was that in which a Commission was appointed to inquire 
into the conduct of magistrates at Birmingham. The other instance was that in which a Commis­
sion was appointed to inquire into the complaints made of the use of unnecessary violence by the 
Police in suppressing disturbances in Hyde Park, and which led to the prosecution of several 
constables. These two instances of the appointment of Commissions to inquire into the alleged 
offences in England pl"Ove that the use of such Commissions is no part of an exceptional and 
arbitrary system of Government adopted for the peculiar condition of Ireland, but has always been 
regarded by Ministers of the Crown in England _as a lawful exercise of the Crown's prerogative 
whenever circumsiances arose that made it desirable. . 

In the year 1865 the notable Royal Commission of Inquiry was appointed to investigate the 
circumstances attending the distm·bances which had lately occurred in the Island of Jamaica, and 
the measures adopted for their suppression. The Legislature of Jamaica passed a special Act 
empowering the Commissioners to compel the attendance of witnesses and the production of _docu­
ments, and to take eyidence on oath ; and the Report of the Commis~ioners shows that they 
inquired into the circumstances attending the perpetration of a larg·e number of crimes, including 
several murders. The Earl of Derby, as leader of the opposition in the House of Lords, q ue;;tion etl 
the lE>gality of the Commission ·on the old ground that the evidence take11 by the Commissioners 
would not have the sanction of an oath, and would therefore not be reliable, and would prejudice 
the public mind in England against Governor Eyre, whose conduct had already been challenged 
and might be made the suqject of a judicial investigation. But this objection was totally removed 
by the above-mentioned Act of the Legislature of Jamaica, and no further challenge of the legality 
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of the Commission was heard in either House of the British Parliament. The provisions of that 
Act were substantially the same as those of our Act 52 Viet. No. 26. 

The last precedent of an appointment of a Royal Commission to investigate alieged crimes in. 
England to which I desire to refer is the appointment of the Commission in the year 1867 to 
investigate the alleged outrages which were said to have been committed in Sheffield and other 
places under the direction of the Trades Unions. A special Act of Parliament (30 Viet. chap. 8) 
was passed to enable the members of that Commission to compel the attendance of witnesse!:l and' 
the production of documents, and to take evidence on oath, and this fact has created the erroneous 
impression on the minds of some persons that the Commission was appointed by virtue of that Act,. 
and was not a Hoyal Commission appointed by the Crown by virtue of its prerogative. A 
reference to the Act itself and to the debates in the British Parliament will immediately dissipate 
any such notion. The Preamble of the Act recites that "A Commission has qeen issued 
by Her Majesty to inquire into and report on the Organisation ai'ld Rules of Trades Unions, 
,x, ,x, * with power to investigate any recent acts of intimidation, outrage, or 
wrong alleged to have been promoted, encouraged, or connived at by such Trades Unions, 
&c.," and it then proceeds to recite " that a case of outrage within the scope of the said 
Commission of Inquiry had been committed at Sheffield," and that representations had been 
made on behalf of the workmen as well as the employers of labour in that town "that a 
searching inquiry on oath should be made into the circumstances of such outrage," and that "the 
powers for the effectual conducting of such inquiry could not be conferred without the authority of 
Parliament." The Act then proceeds to limit the extent of the inquiry, and confers on the Com­
missioners the necessary -compulsory powers of disclosure, and empowers them to administer oaths 
and to punish for contempt; and it provides that every person examined by the Commissioners,. 
and who shall. make a full disclosure in regard to all matters respecting· which he is examined, shall 
be entitled to a certificate of indemnity against any liability in any subsequent civil or criminal 
proceedings founded upon the same matters. The prerogative right of the Crown to appoint the 
Commission was distinctly recognised and acknowledged in both Houses of Parliament. In the 
House of Commons an amendment was proposed that the names of the Commissioners should be 
inserted in the Bill, whereupon Mr. Roebuck reminded the mover of the amendment that the Bill 
did not purport to appoint a Commission by the authority of Parliament, but only to give special 
powers to a Commission which had already been appointed by the Crown, and the mover of the 
amendment withdrew it. ('Hansard, vol. 185, pp. 994-5). In the House of Lords the Lord Chan­
cellor (Lord Chelmsford)" i·eminded their Lordships that the question before them was not whether a 
Commission should issqe," because" the Commission had already issued, and the questi_on was whether 
Parliament should give the Commissiouers certain powers to enable them to discharge the duty 
entrusted to them." (Hansard, vol. 185, p. 1440.) The enactment of that statute was therefore a­
distinct recognition and confirmation by Parliament of the prerogative right of the Crown to appoint 
the Commission recited in its preambhi, and must be held to have conclusively removed the question 
from any dependence on such authorities as the case reported by Lord Coke and his observations 
on it. The powers conferred by that statute on the_ members of that Commission· are exactly the 
powers conferred on Commissioners generally by our Act 52 Viet. No. 26. It is therefore­
manifest that if there had been an Act similar to ours on the Statute Book in England at that. 
date the British Parliament would never have been asked to pass any Act relating to that Com­
mission in particular. The special Act passed on that occasion expired when the Commission 
completed its task, and no general Act conferring the same or similar power,;; upon other Com­
missions has yet been passed in England. 

In the year ] 886 an Act was passed by the Parliament of the Dominion of Canada declaring 
that" whenever the Governor in Council deems it expedient to cause an enquiry to be made into­
and concerning any matter connected with the good-government of Canada, or the conduct of any 
part of the public business thereof, and such inquiry is not regulated by any special law, the 
Governor in Council may by the Commission in the case confer upon the Commissioners or other 
persons by whom such inquiry is to be conducted the power of summoning before them any 
witnesses, and of i·equiring them to give evidence on oath, orally oi· in writing, or on solemn 
affirmation, &c. * * * and to produce such documents and things as such Commissioners 
deem requisite to the full investigation of the matters into which they are appointed to examine." 
Here is a distinct recognition of an inherent power of inquiry in the Crown concurrent with the 
legislative power vested in the Parliament of the Dominion. The Iang·uag·e used in the British 
North America Act (30 Viet. Chap. 3) in defining the legislative powers of the Dominion 
Parliament is "to make laws for the peace, order, and good government of Canada." It 
cannot be contended that the words " peace " and "order" confer any substantial powers 
of legislation which are not included in the phrase " g·ood government," and therefore the 
power "to cause inquiry to be made into and concerning any matter connected with the 
good government of Canada" must extend to every matter and to every interest. not exempted 
from its operation by positive law. The language used in our own Act (52 Viet. No. 26) 
is "any enquiry," without the addition of any descriptive or qualifying words whatever, and I con­
fidently adv\1-nce the proposition that the use of such unqualified language imposes upon those w1o 
would restrict the Crown's right of enquiry in respect of any matter, the task of producing clear and 
positive law in support of such restriction. It would he contnny to law if the Crown were to direct 
an inquiry to be made into any matter of a purely private character, such as the contents of a deed 

... 
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-0f settlement of private property, or the nature of any secret process used in the manufacture of 
any goods made and sold by any private person in his ordinary business. But there are many 
matters that have both a public and a private aspect, and in regard to which the prerogative right 
of the Crown to make an enquiry has been repeatedly admitted by the highest authorities on con­
stitutional principles and practice, and in regard to which that right has in some cases been exercised. 
With respect to such matters it must be remembered that a Select Committee of either House of 
Parliament does not possess any greater authority than the Crown to make inquiries, and the 
power of either House to make inquiries by the medium of Select Committees is dealt with by Todd in 
his Parliamentary Government in England as being subject to the same constitutional rules that 
govern the exercise of the prerogative right ofinquiry by the Crown. In this connection Todd quotes 
the statement of Sir Robert Peel that" where Parliament has given peculiar privileges to any body of 
men, as, for example, banks or railway companies, it has a right to ask that body for information 
upon points· which it deems necessary for the public advantage to have generally understood." 
(Vol. I., p. 452.) On a subsequent occasion l\fr. Gladstone said that a motion of Sir Morton Peto 
for the appointment of a. Select Committee "to enquire into the means adopted by the London, 
Chatham, and Dover Railway Company for raising the share capital and exercising their borrowing 
powers under the various Acts of Parliament authorising the construction of the main line and its 
extensions and branches," although not a motion that it was desirable to agree to for the purpose 
the mover of it had in view, might nevertheless be justified "on the g-round that railway companies 
solicit special parliamentary powers." The Bank of Van Diemen's Land was one of a class of 
institutions which are invested with special privileges by .the Legislature with a view of creating 
facilities for trade that will be advantageous to the whole community as well as to the 
shareholders of those institutions. The operations of those institutions are also made subject 
by the Legislature to special regulations for the protection of the public and the share­
holders. The circumstances attending the failure of one of those institutions to meet its obligations 
might therefore very properly be made the subject of a Royal Commission of Inquiry. The pre­
rogative right of the Crown to make an inquiry in such a case was distinctly claimed without 
ehallenge in the House of Commons in regard to the Bank of Bombay in the year 1868. 
Upon the failure of that bank the Secretary of State for India t.lirected the Governor-General 
of India to appoint a Commission of Inquiry to investigate the circumstances attending the 
failure of the Bank, but it was found that the Commissioners would not have power 
without special legislation t.o compel the attendance of witnesses and the prot.luction of docu­
ments and to administer oaths. An Act was therefore passed by the Governor-General of India 
authorising the appointment of Commissioners with the necessary compulsory powers of disclosure 
(Hansard, Vol: 191, p. 1223.) It must also be remembered that the Bunk of Van Diemen's Land 
at the time of its collapse was a direct debtor of the Crown to the amount of £76,000, aud was 
also a d8btor of the Marine Board of Hobart for moneys deposited in the Bank by the Board, and 
for the expenditure of which the Board is accountable to the Crown, and the Crown might therefore 
legally claim a right on that ground alone to inquire into the financial condition of the Bank and 
the correctness of any balance-sheet issued by its Directors so long as the Bank remained indebted 
to the Crown. · 

Tt is a fundamental principle of the British Constitution that all the prerogative rights of the 
Crown are held in trust for the benefit of the people, and that they can be exercised only upon the 
advice of Ministers who are responsible to Parliament. (See Todd's Parliamentary Government 
in England, 2nd ed., Vol. 1, p. 384.) Hence we find that the exercise of any of those rights upon 
the occurrence of any unusual eventuality is always closely examined by Parliament, and that the 
legality of its exei·cise in such a contingency is frequently challenged by the opponents of the 
Ministers. who have advised it. Protests of that character from the Opposition benches are an 
inevitable result of the existence of political parties in the legislature and in the country, and 
every :Minister who does· not wish to shrink from the responsibility imposed upon him in an unusual 
conjuncture must be prepared to meet them. On such occasions he will probably be charged by his 
antagonists with following discredited precedents and attempting to restore the arbitrary government 
of past centuries; and convenient quotations from the writings of legists and publici~ts of high repute 
will be used in support of the accusation. But the definition of the prerogative given by so strong 
an opponent of unlimited political power as Locke, and approved by so firm a friend of the personal 
rights of Englishmen as Blackstone-viz., "the discretionary power ofacting for the public good when 
the positive laws are silent," (Kerr's Blackstone, Vol. 1, p. 245)-will always supply the test by which 
the legality of the Minister's advice may be determined. Was the course of action recommended 
by the Minister prohibited by Law? If not, was it for the public good? In the case now under 
consideration an event had occurred which had disturbed the public mind with suspicions that were 
calculated to shake public confidence in every financial institution in the Colony, and statements 
were contained in the first Statutory Report made to the shareholders and creditors of the 
"Bank by the Trustees appointed by Parliament to wind up its affairs that pointed to 
fraud in connection with the management of the institution previous to its collapse. Those 
statements were followed by a public verbal announcement by one of the Trustees that so 
far as they were concerned they intended to leave the question of fraud for further investiga­
tion by the Law Officers of the Crown. Then occurred a combination of circumstances, which in 
such a small community as ours made it practically impossible for an investigation to be made . by 
any other method than that which was adopted, unless, indeed, the Crown had resorted to a fishmg 
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criminal prosecution of the Directors and Manager of the Bank at the risk of inflicting upon 
innocent men the pain and indignity of standing charged as criminals at an investigation under 
"The Magistrates Criminal Procedure Act." I do not believe that such a thing has ever been 
done in this Colony, and I trust that it never will be. Ministers were therefore called upon 
to choose between a policy of inaction that ·would have allowed the disturbing suspicions 
then afloat in the community to increase and deepen, and to engender a disbelief in the 
efficiency of the law to overtake offences committed under cover of that implied integrity and that 
supposed good faith which place the authors of such• offences in the positions in which it 
becomes possible to commit them, or to adopt a course that would check the further growth of 
such suspicions and dissipate such disbelief from the public mind. Ip the presence of such an issue 
Ministers considered that they would have failed in their duty to the Crown and to the people if 
they had not advised the Governor as they did. 

His Excellency tke Governor. 

WILLIAM THOMAS STRUTT, 
GOVERNMENT PRINTER, TASMANIA, 

A. INGLIS CLARK. 


